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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I'd like to say a

          3  pleasant good morning to everyone.  I'm Yvette

          4  Clarke, Chair of the Committee on Fire and Criminal

          5  Justice Services.

          6                 And today's hearing will examine a

          7  perennial challenge that we face in our New York

          8  City Fire Department. It's a challenge, and it's

          9  really gotten to the point of being a substantive

         10  problem, which is recruitment of women and

         11  minorities.

         12                 The numbers say it all, folks.  The

         13  FDY is 93 percent Caucasian, and 99.7 percent male.

         14  There are only 28 women out of the entire 10,712

         15  uniformed members of the Department.

         16                 In contrast, 55 percent of the Police

         17  Department are minorities, and 23 percent are women.

         18                 The Department recognizes that it has

         19  a problem, and has created a Recruitment Unit, and

         20  spent millions of dollars to attract women and

         21  minorities before the December, 2002 Firefighters

         22  Exam.

         23                 Despite these efforts, the percentage

         24  of minorities who apply to take the 2002 exam was

         25  actually significantly lower than it was for the
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          2  1999 exam.

          3                 There are fewer women in the

          4  Department today than there were 20 years ago.

          5  Something is clearly not working.

          6                 I hope that today's hearing will help

          7  to identify Department recruitment policies that

          8  have been successful in increasing under-represented

          9  groups, and those which have not.  I do not want the

         10  Council to be having this same hearing in another

         11  few years, and I hope that the Department recognizes

         12  it must overhaul its recruitment efforts.

         13                 The New York City Fire Department

         14  should reflect the diversity of the City of New York

         15  and the City it protects.

         16                 Having said that, we will call

         17  members of the New York City Fire Department,

         18  Commissioner Doug White.

         19                 I'd like to say a pleasant good

         20  morning to you, Commissioner, and ask that if you

         21  have a prepared statement?

         22                 I'm sorry.  We sort of had to

         23  rearrange the order of our hearing today.  We will

         24  be hearing and actually voting on a resolution at

         25  the point of which we've reached a quorum here. And
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          2  so, if not to delay the substance of this hearing we

          3  are starting with Commissioner Doug White.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Good

          5  morning.  Good morning, Chairperson Clarke, and

          6  Council Members.

          7                 Thank you for this opportunity to

          8  discuss the Fire Department's ongoing campaign to

          9  recruit minorities and women.

         10                 This effort is among the Department's

         11  highest priorities.  Simply put, it is right that we

         12  do this.  The Fire Department must be a community

         13  that represents the diversity of New York City.

         14  Inspiring and recruiting young men and women of all

         15  cultural backgrounds to the Fire Department will

         16  ensure the ongoing vitality of FDNY, which is

         17  essential to the security of our community, and what

         18  better to ensure that security than to draw on all

         19  human potential of New York.

         20                 Today I will discuss the intensive

         21  efforts that the Department made during our recent

         22  recruitment campaign, the results of those efforts,

         23  and the steps we are taking now to assist recruits

         24  and gain an even better understanding of how to

         25  focus future campaigns.
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          2                 As this Committee knows, the FDNY

          3  launched a major recruitment campaign in 2002, that

          4  focused on increasing diversity among those who seek

          5  to become firefighters.  The campaign utilized

          6  multiple forms of advertising, various grassroots

          7  initiatives, several methods of information sharing

          8  and steps to make sure those who showed interest in

          9  becoming firefighters followed through by taking the

         10  required tests.

         11                 Mayor Michael R. Bloomberg and Fire

         12  Commissioner Nicholas Scoppetta formally announced

         13  the beginning of the campaign on June 4th, 2002, at

         14  the quarters of Engine Company 230 in Brooklyn.

         15                 Media and advertising:  The FDNY then

         16  instituted an enormous advertising and media

         17  campaign that included the use of outdoor

         18  advertising, print media, TV, radio and the

         19  Internet. In an effort to encourage minority City

         20  residents to join the Fire Department, a media plan

         21  was developed to build awareness and ensure delivery

         22  of the advertising message to prospective

         23  candidates, their family members and friends.

         24                 The 2.7- million- dollar advertising

         25  campaign was facilitated and directed by the multi-
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          2  cultural marketing and communications company PASS.

          3  PASS' creative team developed the "Heroes Wanted"

          4  theme for the campaign.  Heroes Wanted posters were

          5  displayed on billboards, bus shelters and telephone

          6  kiosks throughout the City, with approximately 700

          7  ads displayed throughout the summer.

          8                 I have provided a document for you

          9  containing the exhibits that will be referred to

         10  today.  Exhibit 1 is an example of the ads used

         11  during -- throughout the campaign.

         12                 According to PASS' analysis, this

         13  outdoor campaign resulted in 90 percent of the

         14  African Americans and Hispanic target audience; men

         15  and women from 10 to 34 years old, being exposed to

         16  the recruitment message over 100 times during the

         17  campaign.  In addition, PASS placed several public

         18  service announcements on radio stations focused on

         19  the inner- City market. These radio stations

         20  included WBLS, WLIB, WRKS, KISS, WQHT, HOT 97, WPWR,

         21  Power 105, WCAA and Latino Mix.  Reverend Calvin

         22  Butts of Abyssinian Baptist Church, and Eve, the

         23  internationally known recording artist, were among

         24  those who narrated the Department's PASS.

         25                 The Fire Department owes an enormous
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          2  debt of gratitude to PASS, its principals Steve

          3  Stoute and Peter Arnell, and key players like, Errol

          4  Holt and Scott Giammarino, and former Deputy

          5  Commissioner Lyn Tierney, for their enormous

          6  contributions of time, effort and creativity and

          7  money.

          8                 The FDNY also developed a recruitment

          9  website that provided information on being a

         10  firefighter, including information on

         11  responsibilities, benefits, salary and the

         12  application process.  See Exhibit 2.

         13                 FDNY's Bureau of Technology

         14  Development and Systems reports that from June 15th

         15  to September 30th, 2002, there were 363,417 visits

         16  to our recruitment website.  The web section

         17  entitled, "Women in Fire Fighting" was created to

         18  encourage women to become firefighters and provide

         19  more specific information regarding preparation for

         20  the written and physical exams.  See Exhibit 3.

         21                 Additionally, the City University of

         22  New York provided a link from their website to the

         23  FDNY's website, which allowed 250,000 CUNY students

         24  to connect to FDNY's website and access filing

         25  information.
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          2                 To supplement PASS' Citywide

          3  advertising program, the Recruitment Unit developed

          4   "Heroes Wanted" banners, which were displayed on

          5  firehouse doors and at recruitment presentation

          6  events.  Seventy banners were displayed on firehouse

          7  doors throughout the campaign in traditionally

          8  under- represented neighborhoods.  See Exhibit 4.

          9                 Recruitment print ads appearing in,

         10  among other places, the Military Times, reaching

         11  over a million readers.  See Exhibit 5. And the The

         12  Chief, the City's civil service newspapers.

         13                 The FDNY also advertised on 82 movie

         14  screens and on major cable television stations

         15  through a special donation from Time- Warner, valued

         16  at over a million dollars.  Interviews with FDNY

         17  recruitment staff aired on CUNY TV and KISS radio.

         18  After each radio appearance, follow- up sessions

         19  were conducted at Medgar Evers College, Borough of

         20  Manhattan Community College, and the Schomburg

         21  Center for Research in Black Culture. Additionally,

         22  recruitment personnel appeared on CNN Financial,

         23  Street Talk, Latino Mix and Channel 41.

         24                 I believe the media and advertising

         25  efforts went a long way toward making the community
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          2  of New York aware of the campaign to recruit

          3  minorities and women to join the Fire Department.

          4                 Grassroots initiatives:  In addition

          5  to this broad media campaign, FDNY developed an

          6  intensive person- to- person grassroots campaign.

          7  To support this effort, FDNY established a

          8  Recruitment Unit, with a budget of 1.6 million.  The

          9  unit was supervised by Battalion Chief Phil Parr,

         10  and Director of Diversity Initiatives Tarece

         11  Johnson, both of whom are here today, and staffed by

         12  12 firefighters, and an additional six- to eight

         13  light- duty members who rotated through the unit

         14  each day. Their duties included speaking engagements

         15  at various events, such as job and school fairs,

         16  churches, expos, career days non profit

         17  organizations, and college presentations.  Sixty-

         18  five safety cadets were utilized to distribute

         19  flyers, interest and contact cards, poster placement

         20  and general outreach efforts.

         21                 The units activities included

         22  creating and distributing 70,000 recruitment

         23  brochures.  See Exhibit 5.

         24                 Large numbers of brochures were

         25  distributed to non- profit organizations and the
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          2  Department of Employment and participating

          3  organizations.  The brochures had a perforated,

          4  sectional self- mailer for candidates to complete

          5  and return to our offices for information and an

          6  application.  During the campaign the unit

          7  distributed 89,905 flyers and mounted 4,753 posters.

          8                 Throughout the course of the campaign

          9  contact with potential applicants involved both

         10  recruitment events and presentations.  The

         11  Recruitment Unit scheduled and attended 278

         12  community events, from May to November.

         13  Commissioner Nicholas Scoppetta spoke frequently to

         14  large groups to encourage applications, including

         15  services at Abyssinian Baptist Church, Allen AME

         16  Church and Concord Baptist Church.  These talks

         17  received media coverage from NBC, WABC, NY1, and The

         18  Daily News. For further details see Exhibit 6.

         19                 By December 16th we had 23,351

         20  individuals in our database who had expressed

         21  interest in taking the firefighter exam.  Four

         22  thousand, eight hundred and forty- five, 21 percent

         23  were among those expressing interest, while 2,031

         24  did not identify gender.  Of this group over 23,000,

         25  that's 9,069, 39 percent were black; 5,178, that's
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          2  22 percent were Hispanic; 3,568, 15 percent were

          3  while; and 507, two percent were Asian and Pacific

          4  Islanders; and 23 percent, less than one percent

          5  identified as Native American.  Of the total entries

          6  in the database, 5,006, 21 percent did not identify

          7  race.

          8                 A telephone bank was established to

          9  attempt to reach those who had expressed interest

         10  during presentations and recruitment events.  It

         11  also served to answer calls from the general public

         12  about fire fighting as a career.  Throughout the

         13  campaign the unit fielded an average of 273 calls

         14  per day.  As part of the unit's attrition prevention

         15  program, candidates in the database received three

         16  reminder calls before the filing deadline.

         17                 Informational sessions:  The FDNY

         18  also instituted informational sessions, which

         19  allowed candidates to meet firefighters, ask

         20  questions of them, and receive assistance with

         21  filling out applications.  The sessions covered fire

         22  fighting as a career, the application process, job

         23  benefits and other pertinent subjects.

         24                 Between July and December 2002, 211

         25  of the information sessions were conducted at sites
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          2  around the City, including community locations we

          3  hoped would be comfortable and familiar to

          4  candidate.  Weekly sessions were held at FDNY

          5  Headquarters, the Urban League, Vulcan Hall, John

          6  Jay College, Hunter College and the Borough of

          7  Manhattan Community College. See Exhibit 6 for more

          8  information on this.

          9                 The Attrition Prevention Program:

         10  The Recruitment Unit also made special efforts to

         11  ensure that those expressed interest in becoming a

         12  firefighter stayed with the application process

         13  through to the end.  This attrition prevention

         14  program included the mailing of 4,500 postcards, e-

         15  mails and notices to FDNY civilians and EMS

         16  employees who were interested in taking the exam,

         17  mass mailings to over 10,000 potential candidates,

         18  and the publication of over 30,000 "Heroes Wanted"

         19  newsletters, which included the filing date, test

         20  dates, study and test- taking tips, and firefighter

         21  profiles.  Samples of these newsletters are included

         22  in Exhibits 7 and 8.

         23                 Community resource exchange

         24  partnership:  To assist the unit in its diversity

         25  recruitment efforts, the FDNY formed a partnership
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          2  with the Community Resource Exchange, a non profit

          3  organization that provides management assistance to

          4  a range of community- based organizations and

          5  institutions serving those effected by poverty.

          6                 CRE helped the Department form a

          7  coalition of non profit groups to help reach out to

          8  under- represented communities and share information

          9  regarding fire fighting as a career.  With the

         10  assistance of a Recruitment Unit personnel CRE was

         11  successful in raising 50,000 from JP Morgan Chase to

         12  help to cover expenses related to mentoring,

         13  recruitment and test preparation.  FDNY is grateful

         14  for the assistance of the New York Urban League,

         15  Grand Street Settlement, The Valley, and Non-

         16  Traditional Employment for Women for their

         17  participation in the coalition.

         18                 Study and testing assistance:  The

         19  Recruitment Unit also provided study and testing

         20  assistance to candidates applying to become

         21  firefighters.  We developed a written exam training

         22  program, meant not only to directly prepare

         23  candidates, but also to motivate them and build

         24  their confidence.  This information was given to

         25  anyone who inquired about the exam, or who was

                                                            15

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  included in the database and filed to take the exam.

          3                 In addition, the Recruitment Unit

          4  coordinated a "train the trainer" course to teach

          5  firefighters how to assist candidates in test

          6  preparation.  This course taught firefighters how to

          7  conduct a written exam training class, multiple

          8  choice strategies, and advice on studying.  The FDNY

          9  provided a free exam preparation manual an a memory

         10  and examination book to each candidate in these

         11  courses.  Approximately 20 classes per week were

         12  given in ten different locations, two in each

         13  borough.  For more information on this see Exhibit

         14  7.

         15                 Recruitment of women:  The Fire

         16  Department has made special efforts to recruit

         17  woman.  The recruitment team includes three women,

         18  Director Tarece Johnson, and Firefighters Tracy

         19  Lewis and Regina Wilson, who were detailed to the

         20  unit to assist with the campaign.  The Recruitment

         21  Unit worked with the United Women Firefighter

         22  Association to offer informational sessions geared

         23  especially to women, and sent special recruitment

         24  materials to female candidates.

         25                 Extension of the filing deadline:  In
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          2  order to ensure the advertising, grassroots and

          3  outreach campaigns had maximum impact, FDNY

          4  petitioned DCAS to extend the filing deadline for

          5  the exam.  With DCAS's approval, the deadline was

          6  extended from September 30th to October 31st, 2002.

          7  The Recruitment Unit contacted every person in its

          8  database to inform them of that extension.

          9                 Preliminary results:  Applications

         10  and results from the written exam.  Though we had

         11  hoped for greater increase in the number of

         12  applicants from under- represented groups, the FDNY

         13  was encouraged that significant numbers of

         14  applicants from groups we were trying to reach

         15  applied for and took the written firefighter exam.

         16  Twenty three thousand, eight hundred and sixty-

         17  seven persons filed to take the firefighter exam.

         18  Seventy four percent were white, 12 percent

         19  Hispanic, nine percent black, two percent Asian and

         20  Pacific Islanders, and two percent other. Of the

         21  total four percent were women.  Of the 23,867

         22  persons filing, 17,743 took the exam.  Three hundred

         23  and ninety- three EMTs filed to take the promotional

         24  exam and actually 291 took it.

         25                 Of the 17,743 who took the written

                                                            17

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  exam, approximately ninety- seven person are male,

          3  three percent are female, 77 percent are white, 12

          4  percent Hispanic, eight percent are black, two

          5  percent are Asian, and less than one percent are

          6  Native American.

          7                 DCAS has not complied its data on who

          8  passed the exam or the pass rates.  We believe this

          9  information will be available shortly, and would be

         10  happy to update this Committee when we get the final

         11  results.

         12                 The physical exam preparation

         13  assistance:  FDNY is now offering assistance in

         14  preparation for physical exam to all candidates who

         15  have passed the written exam.  This strenuous test

         16  is difficult for all applicants and demands

         17  dedicated training. The Recruitment Unit has

         18  provided all candidates who have passed the written

         19  exam with information on the physical exam, and

         20  invited them to informational sessions at FDNY

         21  headquarters.

         22                 The Recruitment Unit has also formed

         23  a partnership with the New York Sports Club, which

         24  will give free access to their 85 facilities to all

         25  candidates who passed the written exam.  The
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          2  donations of memberships and special training for

          3  female candidates for the NYSC is valued at over

          4  four million dollars.

          5                 The physical exam, which requires

          6  significant upper- and- lower- body strength has

          7  been a major challenge for women taking the

          8  firefighter exam.  The FDNY has worked with NYSC to

          9  develop a program designed to train women in both

         10  strength and endurance.  The FDNY is grateful to

         11  NYSC and its Senior Regional Manager Nick McNickle,

         12  who will lead this eight- week training program and

         13  has previously been successful in training female

         14  candidates for the FDNY firefighter exam.

         15                 Continuing and future recruitment

         16  efforts: Through the FDNY's recruitment campaign --

         17  I'm sorry -- though the FDNY recruitments campaign

         18  did not lead to an increased percentage of

         19  minorities and women taking the exam, the Department

         20  remains committed to the goal of diversity and the

         21  examination process is not yet over.  We are

         22  continuing our efforts through this final phase of

         23  the exam process, and hope to see positive results,

         24  especially with the special physical training

         25  program for our women candidates.  This campaign
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          2  taught us valuable lessons and laid the foundations

          3  for future efforts.

          4                 In order to make future efforts as

          5  successful as possible, FDNY is working with a

          6  research team from Colombia University that is

          7  designing a study to analyze the campaign. The

          8  Colombia team will study the messages and technique

          9  of the campaign, the demographics of those who

         10  passed the exam, and the perceptions that minorities

         11  and women have of fire fighting as a career.  That

         12  work will culminate in a report to the Department on

         13  ways we can improve our diversity activities in the

         14  future.

         15                 In conclusion:  I would like to thank

         16  the Chairperson and the Committee for the

         17  opportunity to come before you today and share our

         18  efforts to improve the diversity of FDNY. Speaking

         19  for myself and for the Department, I want to express

         20  my gratitude to the many dedicated people who did so

         21  much over the long months of this campaign, and wish

         22  the best of luck to our remaining candidates and

         23  they prepare for the physical exam.

         24                 I would be happy to answer any

         25  questions you may have at this time.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

          3  much, Commissioner White.

          4                 I'd just like to acknowledge that

          5  Council Member James Sanders, Jr., of Far Rockaway,

          6  Queens is with us.  He's between two hearings at the

          7  same time.  So if you see him dart between the

          8  doors, it's because he's doubly committed on today.

          9                 Thank you, Commissioner.  I'd just to

         10  begin with some introductory questions to you, and

         11  get some of your feedback.

         12                 What do you think that the Department

         13  should be doing differently to increase the numbers

         14  of women and minority applicants?  You've had this

         15  experience this summer, and I'll get into some

         16  further detail.  There seems to be some discrepancy

         17  in terms of the outcomes as stated in your

         18  testimony, but from a global perspective was there

         19  anything that you, personally, have witnessed in

         20  this process that could be done differently to

         21  increase the numbers of women and minority

         22  applicants?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  That is a

         24  difficult question.  I really think, and, you know,

         25  I think that between the media campaign, the
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          2  grassroots campaign, the fact that we had, I think a

          3  database of -- I'm not sure whether it was 23,000 or

          4  18,000 -- the fact that we probably had more

          5  minorities on it. But 10,000, that was 10,000 people

          6  we had actual contact with, actual contact, either

          7  in person or sometimes people called, but we called

          8  them back and that kind of thing.  But a lot of

          9  these people we spoke to.

         10                 It suggest to me, it suggest to me

         11  that the effort to get people to take the test is

         12  more complicated than showing that the Department

         13  would be accepting of the folks, that is that

         14  showing whether it's in ads or whatever, I mean, I

         15  don't think -- I think it would be very, very hard

         16  not to -- that people -- I think many people saw

         17  this ad, many people were contacted.  And so I think

         18  that it's complicated why people did not apply in

         19  larger numbers.

         20                 And I just want to -- since we're

         21  talking global, I just want to say we spoke, focused

         22  a lot on the community colleges as an example, but

         23  I'm not sure exactly how many we got out of the

         24  community colleges at this point.  But one of the

         25  reasons for that was we felt that people in the
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          2  community colleges perhaps do better on tests than

          3  others who were used to testing.  And we went into,

          4  you know, the typical ones, Manhattan, Bronx

          5  Community College, all of those places, and our

          6  results -- I think we're one percentage point in

          7  terms of those who took the test in terms of

          8  minorities higher than in the previous exam.  One

          9  percentage point.

         10                 Now I might say, though, we don't

         11  know how people did on the test, and that is

         12  significant because I think they're about 1300 --

         13  no, it's more than that.  I'm not sure.  But, let's

         14  see, of those who took the test I see Hispanics

         15  2,108.  I think there are 1,367 blacks, 281 -- and

         16  we're looking maybe at about 3.5 thousand.  We don't

         17  know how those people are going to test, but we had

         18  these training sessions to get people to do better.

         19  So one of the keys is how people test on this thing.

         20    How many people will apply is a harder question,

         21  you know, that's one of the reasons we have Colombia

         22  joining us to do this study.  You know, it's very,

         23  very hard to determine that.

         24                 But since I was talking about what

         25  the key is, I also think the key is the eight- week
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          2  training course that we have for women.  That is

          3  really key in terms of people passing, actually

          4  passing this exam.  So I don't know all of the

          5  reasons for it.  All I know is we did a hell of a

          6  lot of work.  We had a lot of people out there, and

          7  the people who were doing it were very committed to

          8  it, and I think you have to do more of that.  I

          9  think that perhaps it could be done earlier.  They

         10  get the mindset of, you know, of young people who

         11  would like to be firefighters maybe in the public

         12  schools.  I've heard a lot of ideas of circulating

         13  around of having a high school for public safety,

         14  which obviously would be a key place.

         15                 So, I mean, I can't answer your

         16  question, but I don't think, I really don't think we

         17  could have done much more than we did.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  All right.  I

         19  just was looking that even in your testimony it

         20  stated that on December 16th your database had

         21  identified individuals who had expressed interest in

         22  taking the firefighter exam.  Thirty- nine percent

         23  were black, 22 percent were Hispanic --

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  -- And 15
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          2  percent were white, but later in your testimony you

          3  stated persons who filed to take the exam -- I mean,

          4  this is the difference between interest and filing

          5   --

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Right.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  -- That the

          8  numbers are so dramatic.  It says then nine percent

          9  were black, 12 percent were Hispanic, and 74 percent

         10  were white.  So it seemed to me that part of the

         11  challenges between the expression of interest and

         12  just getting the application filed.  Was there any

         13  mentoring or any techniques used to really continue

         14  to sort of -- I mean, I remember when we were being

         15  recruited for colleges, you know, those college

         16  recruiters call you up until the day that they see

         17  your application in the door?  Did you have that

         18  sort of rhetoric?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yes, we

         20  had that. Plus we had the informational sessions,

         21  which was where firefighters could talk about what

         22  they do.  So people could come down to one of the

         23  different locations and hear about what it's like,

         24  you know, hear about what the benefits are like,

         25  hear what the job is like.  We did an enormous
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          2  amount of that.  I think it's -- I don't know, was

          3  it 278 information sessions.  Something in that

          4  order.  So we did a lot of that.

          5                 I think that one thing a firefighter

          6  once told me -- actually it was a black firefighter.

          7    He was telling me about how he was trying to

          8  recruit, and this firefighter knows -- he's actually

          9  in the Vulcan Society -- he told me this, and I

         10  thought it was interesting.  He told me he was going

         11  into the bank, and there was a teller sitting behind

         12  at, you know, the thing, and he said why don't you

         13  become a firefighter.  Ah, I don't want to do that,

         14  you know.  It took him six times to get this guy, to

         15  convinced this guy, going back to the bank before he

         16  actually filed.

         17                 All I'm trying to say is, you know,

         18  that's the level of intensity.  It was probably

         19  beyond our budget, and beyond the 20 or so people

         20  that were doing this every day.  Even though we held

         21  the informational sessions where people could come

         22  down, but they had to come down.

         23                 The other issue might be the filing

         24  fee.  I don't know if the police use a filing fee,

         25  but it's my understanding they have tremendous drop
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          2  off, notwithstanding they don't have a filing fee,

          3  you know, it doesn't really matter that much.  So

          4  there is that drop off.  People who express interest

          5  to a recruiter, as an example, and then don't file.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I'm

          8  stymied about a little bit about it as well, other

          9  than more of the same, as well as reaching into the

         10  elementary schools -- high school, I'm sorry -- high

         11  schools, and the colleges again.  Also, I don't know

         12  the, you know, there's a lot of speculation.  I

         13  think Colombia might or may shed some light on this,

         14  but there's been a lot of speculation that recruits

         15  or potential recruits see fire fighting as a

         16  working- class job, you know.  I mean, there's all

         17  kind of reasons, just to throw it out.

         18                 I think that for many, many years

         19  minorities, in particular, felt that the Police

         20  Department was hostile to them, but, you know, the

         21  numbers are tremendous there I think now, or getting

         22  much, much better, and I don't think that that is

         23  the issue as much today as it was in the past.  I

         24  think we've tried to make it clear.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Especially in
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          2  this economy.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:

          4  Especially in this economy, right, that's another

          5  thing.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Has there been

          7  any discussion or interfacing with the Police

          8  Department to take a look at what it is that they do

          9  differently from the FDNY that has made the

         10  difference for them?  Was there any discussions

         11  perhaps, any shared practices that could be

         12  utilized?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  We had

         14  some discussions with the Police Department about

         15  what they were doing.  One of the things that they

         16  did that was different than we did, they did, in

         17  fact, have many more people recruiting.  You know,

         18  maybe it was -- what I had heard was that they had

         19  well over 100 people a day on the street recruiting.

         20    But just in terms of a number, but, I frankly --

         21  well, I think it's much more -- the reason we're not

         22  getting people is much more pervasive than that.  It

         23  runs through a range of things, and then how many

         24  recruiters you have.  Because I think that a

         25  combination of factors, whether it's media, and
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          2  whether it's people actually recruiting, however

          3  you're having the sessions, I don't think they had

          4  informational sessions the way we had those.  We had

          5  a lot of those informational sessions at

          6  headquarters, and people, places in communities, you

          7  know.

          8                 I personally went to an organization

          9  that was heavily minority, for instance, that had

         10  hundreds, hundreds of young minority people, and we

         11  could not -- we could not recruit more than a

         12  handful of people there.  A handful, and we were

         13  prepared to be there every day, you know.  And, you

         14  know, this place was certainly 98 percent minority,

         15  black and Hispanic, every day.  I could tell you the

         16  organization, it was The Door. I went to The Door

         17  every day.  You could speak to the executive

         18  director about it.  Could not.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Let me just take

         20  a moment, Commissioner --

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  -- To introduce.

         23    She must have stepped away a moment, but we were

         24  joined by Council Member Tracy Boyland of Brooklyn.

         25  I'm sure she'll be back momentarily.
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          2                 Do you have a sense of -- I know that

          3  a lot of the funding for this year's campaign or

          4  this past campaign was an in kind, but do you have a

          5  sense of what the cost was for recruitment of women

          6  and minorities this year --

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  For the

          8  Fire Department.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  -- For FDNY, and

         10  that in comparison to previous years?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I don't

         12  know what was done in previous years in terms of,

         13  you know, it's a question of records, you know, what

         14  people say about it, but I don't really know what

         15  that was.  I can just tell you that the figure we

         16  use is 1.6 million dollars that we used, that we had

         17  in- house.  But that doesn't include a range of

         18  things, for instance, I mean, theoretically when you

         19  put a budget together, right, you know, you put also

         20  my salary there which would probably take it over

         21  two million -- no.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Don't joke like

         23  that.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  But you

         25  know what I mean.  What I'm saying is there's a lot
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          2  of pieces to it.  There are a lot of mailings that

          3  we did, that we didn't even add to the 1.6 million

          4  dollars.  So a lot of services that we use there we

          5  don't budget.  We probably wouldn't budget the

          6  vehicles.  None of that was really budgeted and what

          7  that was.  So we did 1.6 million there, which I

          8  thought was -- the effort that we put in, without

          9  more, I think my feeling always was that it was

         10  substantially -- and I don't want to put a number on

         11  that -- substantial increase for number of

         12  applicants, but it really didn't.

         13                 Now I'm hoping that the quality of

         14  applicants that we got are much higher and they will

         15  appear higher on the list as an example, even though

         16  we would hope to exhaust the list.  You know, like,

         17  for instance, we presently have on the present fire

         18  fighting list we still have a ways to go, and there

         19  are quite a few minorities, for instance, on that

         20  list now, and we hope to get to the end of it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay.  If you

         22  could take a look at what comprises the 1.6 --

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Okay.

         24  We'll do that. Yeah.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  -- How much of
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          2  that would you say was the City's financial

          3  commitment, versus what we refer to as pro bono

          4  work?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  No, all

          6  that was the City, that was the City.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  That was all

          8  City allocated?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yeah.  It

         10  was the 1.6 from the City, but I think it's more

         11  than that.  It's probably going to be closer to two

         12  million when I look at it again, get some final

         13  numbers.  First, the numbers are not final yet,

         14  that's one thing.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Right.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Two; the

         17  four million. There was four million from NOW New

         18  York Sports Club. Potentially, depending on how many

         19  buy into that, and I think that includes both the

         20  women's training program as well as in the outreach

         21  thing, the more general thing.  Then there is --

         22  there's some figure I think I'm losing here, but

         23  let's see, that's four. There was a two million.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  The advertising

         25  campaign.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:

          3  Advertising, 2.7 million.  And by the way that

          4  figure, those 700 posters and whatnot, they were up

          5  the entire summer, and any time you want I can

          6  provide you with all those locations.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Right.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I have

          9  all of that data.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay.

         11                 Okay.  I recognize Sanders already.

         12  Oh, okay. Let me go to my colleague, Council Member

         13  James Sanders, Jr., of Far Rockaway Queens, and

         14  we're being joined by some young people. Okay.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Good

         16  morning, Deputy Commissioner.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Good

         18  morning.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Good morning

         20  to our young scholars.  Good morning, all.

         21                 Deputy Commissioner, I think that we

         22  need to explore, and I haven't heard it, we've been

         23  at the edges of a question, but let me see if I

         24  can't delve into it directly.  In your opinion, of

         25  course, why don't so- called minorities and women
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          2  join the police -- the police -- the Fire Department

          3  in the numbers that we would like them to?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Okay.

          5  I'll be as clear as I can as to why.  And let me

          6  just say, though, I want to emphasize again that one

          7  of the things we want Colombia to do because a lot

          8  of this is impressionistic, you know, a lot of it

          9  has to do with talking to staff, talking to

         10  recruiters, talking to the Vulcans, talking to the

         11  Hispanics.  So, I mean, we talk about it all the

         12  time, and I talk about it with them all the time.

         13  We also have an advisory group, by the way, that

         14  includes those groups and we talk about it.

         15                 I think it's the perception of fire

         16  fighting.  I think that it's -- I do think that many

         17  people, who particularly people who go to junior

         18  college, I think that a lot of them are thinking

         19  that no, they're going to have a white- collar job.

         20  They're not going to have sort of like a working-

         21  class job.  I think that's a part of it.  So I think

         22  that's one piece to it.

         23                 I think that there is the issue of

         24  people when they -- if they're in college, they feel

         25  they can earn money than that as well.  I think that

                                                            34

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  minorities see more fires in their communities, and

          3  realize the implications of fighting those fires and

          4  what, and the cost and the burden.  I think that's

          5  an issue. A realistic attitude about the dangers of

          6  fighting fires, that's what I'm really saying, as

          7  opposed to others who don't see many fires, and see

          8  it maybe more heroically.  I don't want to -- that's

          9  just my general feeling about it.

         10                 I think that the long process, it

         11  takes a long time.  It's not just very immediate.  I

         12  know, for instance, and any of us with young

         13  children -- not young children, the older children

         14  who have to prepare to go to college, you know how

         15  hard it is to get them to fill out the applications.

         16    It's unbelievable.  For mine, I filled out the

         17  applications.  They basically just signed their name

         18  and did the essay.  So I'm just, I'm serious, so

         19  it's a process.  So, you know, it takes -- you've

         20  got to take the written exam, you need to do some

         21  preparation for that, and you got to take the

         22  physical exam, and you need to do some preparation

         23  for that.  And also, we don't have free- standing

         24  institutions in our communities that that is the

         25  purpose, is to get them over the firefighter exam.
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          2  So we don't fund, like I mentioned the schools for

          3  public safety, for instance, as an idea.  You know,

          4  it's not my idea particularly, but it would be a

          5  great idea.

          6                 I think that you need those kinds of

          7  institutions that help you do well on it, and I

          8  think maybe finally -- it may not be the final

          9  point.  I think it's the culture.  I don't think we

         10  have a real culture of it, you know, it's amazing

         11  frankly, and now being, you know, at one time being

         12  City Personnel Director, I mean, sort of almost the

         13  other side of it try looking at the Fire Department,

         14  and now work at the Fire Department, the culture is

         15  deep, it's rich in terms of people who for

         16  generations have fought fires.  And the young

         17  people, you know, you might say that some young

         18  people, you know, some of your people might say I

         19  want to be a lawyer, but if their daddy was a

         20  firefighter and their grandfather was a firefighter,

         21  they want to be a firefighter.  It really isn't -- I

         22  think it's interesting that the head of the Vulcans,

         23  his father was a firefighter.  I mean, I don't think

         24  that's an accident, you know.

         25                 And if you speak to the Battalion
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          2  Chief, who works on recruitment, I once asked him --

          3  who's here today -- I once asked him, Phil Parr, how

          4  he became a firefighter.  He said, well, in his

          5  community there was a guy who was a friend of his

          6  whose father was a firefighter, and that's why he

          7  became a firefighter.  He really didn't think about

          8  it very much.

          9                 So I'm just saying there is that

         10  culture, and it's a very rich culture, and we don't

         11  have it in minority communities in great numbers.

         12  Also, I might add, in some of those communities we

         13  don't see many minority firefighters, and one of the

         14  things we've been trying to do is deal with the

         15  placement of firefighters as they come out of Proby

         16  (phonetic) school, in a lot of communities as a

         17  visible of looksee (sic) in terms of who's working,

         18  and we've been working very closely with Hispanics.

         19  Certainly with the Vulcans on that.

         20                 So the range of reasons, you know,

         21  and there are probably a few more, but that's all I

         22  can think of right this minute.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  If I can

         24  explore this just for a little further.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yeah.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  When I was a

          3  younger man I understood that fire fighting was one

          4  of the most courageous things that one could do.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  But I was

          7  thinking to myself, I went and did Marine Core.  I

          8  never considered the Fire Department.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Now part of

         11  it had to do with the question of culture, but let

         12  me explore that.  Culture has both good and negative

         13  parts of it.

         14                 Fire fighting, as I understood it was

         15  really a -- it had a forbidden sense to it, if you

         16  wish.  I know too much of history.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Firefighters

         19  in other parts of town -- I'm sorry -- in other

         20  areas of this country would come into my mind.  But

         21  the firefighters that I remember coming up were not

         22  very inviting.  It was a clickish (sic), a closed

         23  club, if you wish, and it did not -- I'm giving, of

         24  course, impressions -- it seemed to be a closed club

         25  of good old boys, and my type was not exactly -- it
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          2  just wasn't for us, if you wish.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yeah.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Does this

          5  perception still running around?  Of course there

          6  were class questions too. Everybody wanted you to be

          7  a lawyers, doctor, this or that, and lost out on

          8  well- paying, great opportunities in other places.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yeah.

         10  Listen, I'm sure that that's part of it, but that's

         11  why I said that I thought the reasons why ultimately

         12  minorities don't join the Fire Department in greater

         13  numbers, and also women I might add, I think is very

         14  pervasive in the sense that there are a lot of

         15  pieces to it.

         16                 I'll give you an example, for

         17  instance, 9/11.  We thought the theme, "Heros

         18  Wanted" was a great theme.  And a number of people

         19  said that they didn't think it was good.  They

         20  thought that 9/11 frightened people a lot, and so

         21  only the most committed, only the most committed

         22  would want to be a firefighter after 9/11 as an

         23  example.  You know, I don't really know that.  I

         24  don't know whether that's true of not.  You know,

         25  but I do think that, yes, the culture and that it's
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          2  forbidden probably to some, but that's what we try

          3  to break down.  That's what we try to break down in

          4  informational sessions, that's what we try to break

          5  down in all those one- to- one contacts that we had.

          6    So, you know, I'm sure that's part of it.  I'm

          7  sure all these pieces are part of it.

          8                 But there is a big drop off, as you

          9  mentioned early between those who showed an interest

         10  and those who actually filed, but an interest is

         11  cheap, if you know what I'm saying. Yeah, yeah, I'm

         12  interested, you know, for all I know they might

         13  think it's a good looking firefighter who's trying

         14  to recruit me. I have no idea.  I don't know what

         15  the dynamics are, and since most firefighters are

         16  rather good looking, so I think that's probably an

         17  issue, you know.

         18                 You know, so I thinks it's a valid

         19  point you have and you know, something we've thought

         20  about and tried to break down and respond to

         21  actually.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you,

         23  Madam Chair.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you,

         25  Council Member.
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          2                 Let me acknowledge that we've also

          3  been joined by -- Tracy is back, and Council Member

          4  Christine Quinn, and Council Member Hiram

          5  Monserrate.  Christine Quinn from Manhattan. Hiram

          6  Monserrate from Queens.

          7                 Let me just ask when does the

          8  Department intend to hire another class, and what is

          9  the number of women and minorities that will be

         10  hired in this class, if you have a sense of that?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I know

         12  exactly, actually.  I mean, of course, this has

         13  nothing to do with what we're doing in this

         14  recruitment effort.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Uh-huh.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I'm just

         17  saying that a new class started on, I think,

         18  February 2nd.  There were 269, there were a total of

         19  269 in the class.  There were 21 Hispanics, six

         20  blacks, five Asians.  There were 32 minorities out

         21  of 269, which was 11.89 percent.  The class just

         22  before that was 15.28. So there was a drop off.

         23                 Now I think it's important to note

         24  that --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Were any women?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  There

          3  were no women in that.  In fact, going back from the

          4  beginning of 7029, I only see two women.  I mean, I

          5  assume this is accurate.  Two women through the

          6  entire list.  However, and you know, the question --

          7  I wanted to follow up with something.

          8                 I did want to say, though, that we

          9  are at 3,200 on this list.  And I'm looking at my

         10  sheet here, between 3,000 and 6,000, and we plan to

         11  get through this entire list.  Just between that, I

         12  mean, even though there are a few more, there's,

         13  two, four, five, there's close to 600 minorities if

         14  we finish this list out, and we do believe we will.

         15  So there are 600 minorities.  I don't know whether

         16  or not --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Are there any

         18  women on the list?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  You know,

         20  I can't tell that from this sheet, but I could

         21  certainly provide that to you. I can't tell you from

         22   -- because all I have is a total list.  It says,

         23   "minorities" and I don't really know whether this

         24  list includes minorities and women.  But let's see

         25  here, on 7029 it would have to be women on the list
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          2  because there was 22 on the list originally.  So

          3  there must be 20 -- ah, no, it may not be 20 because

          4  some people may have just declined to take the job

          5  of the first few people, the first 3,200 have been

          6  called, or maybe there was something in their

          7  background that precluded them, you know, as an

          8  example a felony or something that preventing them

          9  from serving.  But the original list had 22.  Just a

         10  second, I'm sorry.  I'm sorry.  It had 18 women on

         11  it.  There was not 22, it was 18.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Eighteen women?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yes, 18

         14  women.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  And the

         17  overall number for that was.  So that was 17.3

         18  percent minority of this list that we're now drawing

         19  from are minority, and there are 0.3 percent women.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay.  Let me

         21  just for the young people who have joined us.  I

         22  didn't officially give them the welcome they

         23  deserve.  They're from Brooklyn.  Brooklyn is in the

         24  house.  They're from PS No. 3, and Council Member Al

         25  Vann's district, and they're in the sixth grade.

                                                            43

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 So we want to big up the sixth

          3  graders, and young people.

          4                 Today we are here discussing

          5  recruitment of people of color and women into the

          6  New York City Fire Department.  I hope that you'll

          7  listen attentively, that you'll do well in school.

          8  Because many of you may want to become firefighters,

          9  and it's required that you be well educated in order

         10  to be a firefighter in New York City.  So I hope

         11  that you'll enjoy listening to what we say here

         12  today.  They're looking for qualified young people

         13  to join the FDNY and many of you sitting there today

         14  may become future firefighters in the years to come.

         15                 Thank you so much for visiting with

         16  us.

         17                 Council Member Boyland, you had a

         18  question?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Thank you,

         20  Madam Chair.

         21                 Mr. White, it is a pleasure to

         22  finally put a face to a voice on the phone.  There

         23  are a couple of questions that may have been

         24  covered, but I wish you would indulge me and

         25  listening in terms of women in the Fire Department.

                                                            44

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 We've had conversations, you and I,

          3  and the Commissioner as well, in talking about the

          4  recruitment, and part of the concern is that, you

          5  know, when I looked at how the Police Department at

          6  one point in time as I crossed over the Brooklyn

          7  Bridge, as I went down the FDR, I saw major signs,

          8  New York, NYPD wanted, you too can become a police

          9  officer, and literature, and pens, and everything,

         10  paraphernalia that's actually connected to the

         11  recruitment process.  And then I looked at the Fire

         12  Department, and in the same discussion that we were

         13  having it in terms of minorities being involved and

         14  the process, being that New York City is the most

         15  diverse City in America, we did not see that in the

         16  Fire Department.

         17                 To see your face, of course, is a

         18  pleasure, but one of the concerns was, what is the

         19  Fire Department doing, or the real question is not

         20  doing in terms of recruiting people of color?  Now

         21  when you read off numbers, zero women applying, is

         22  it applying or is it actually passing the

         23  psychological or the physical or getting list?  When

         24  you talk about 21 Hispanics, when you talk about six

         25  blacks, when you talk about five Asians, in a pool
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          2  of 269 recruiters, it just brings to light a lot of

          3  questions about, again, what is being done versus

          4  what is not being done with the Fire Department.  So

          5  let me just sort of put this in a different frame.

          6                 In a Doug White perfect world, in a

          7  utopia of Mr. White, of Deputy Commissioner White,

          8  what would you have the Fire Department do to

          9  improve its recruitment of people of color?  And

         10  that's question number one, but I'll give you an

         11  opportunity to respond.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Well, I

         13  said I think before you got here, we had a 2.7-

         14  million- dollar media campaign, a 1.6- million-

         15  dollar campaign of grassroots recruiter, you know,

         16  now we have a special training for women from the

         17  New York Sports Club, an eight- week program for the

         18  physical.  I think I would do more of the same.  I

         19  think that I would study closely what Colombia

         20  University is going to determine what we should do

         21  in addition, and want to do that.  I think that one

         22  of the things in the testimony stated that 18- to-

         23  34- year olds, minorities, I mean of black and

         24  Hispanics saw the recruitment ad a hundred times.

         25  Now this is what the PASS says, the multi- cultural
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          2  advertising agency.

          3                 So in addition to saying we want you,

          4  we're here for you, in addition to holding

          5  information sessions and presentations and going to

          6  community colleges and community centers and using

          7  non- profits, I think we have to do more of the

          8  same, and I also think that we probably should do

          9  more in high schools as a step.  We had, you know,

         10  some of things is you have to want to go to where

         11  you think you have the most quality in a short

         12  campaign, and in particularly I think we started

         13  February, basically in trying to put something in

         14  place.  And so we tried to go where we thought we'd

         15  get the highest yield, that was really what we were

         16  trying to do, and we did that from time, you know.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  And I

         18  thought it was effective with the Police Department,

         19  I mean, even the conversation about junior

         20  academies, it worked in terms of preparing young

         21  people to become New York City Police Officers, and

         22  I didn't see that with the Fire Department.  But

         23  again, and I say in a utopia, in a perfect world,

         24  and I think you hit on it with high schools, and

         25  going into communities of color.  I thought there

                                                            47

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  should have been a lot more outreach to the elected

          3  officials, officers, in terms of -- and I can only

          4  compare to what I've seen in my lifetime.  And the

          5  Police Department, they actually -- in my office,

          6  you know, I've fund what they call the Explorer

          7  Program, and I fund these youth programs which train

          8  young people on what the Police Department will do,

          9  and I had brochures in my office and in my community

         10  board meetings, the presentations were there, and I

         11  want to commend Commissioner Scoppetta.  He did go

         12  to some, a few churches.  He didn't come to Wayside

         13  in Brooklyn, but he did go --

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  We would

         15  have if we had known you wanted him there.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Okay.  Doug,

         17  but I know you're in Queens I saw that, but, you

         18  know, the outreach should be just beyond the

         19  commissioner himself but amongst others, and, of

         20  course, the Vulcan Society.  But let's get back to

         21  women.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Now I

         24  believe women can concur it all.  I believe that

         25  women are the foundation of this community and have
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          2  been historically.  There have been some questions

          3  in terms of -- not so much the psychological, but

          4  the physical aspect --

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  -- Of the

          7  Fire Department.

          8                 Now I'm a pretty strong women.

          9  Christine looks pretty strong, and well --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Not really.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  -- I bet

         12  Yvette.  Has this become an issue or barrier in

         13  terms of the recruitment of women because you

         14  mentioned that there is a connection with the Sports

         15  Club?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  No, let

         17  me just maybe spell this out a little bit more.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Okay.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  We had

         20  874 applicants who were women, and we have 547 who

         21  took the test.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Okay.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Now we

         24  don't know where they're going to fall on this, but

         25  let's assume it may very well be depending on what
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          2  the test or the test score, you know, what's a

          3  passing rate and whatnot.  We may very well have

          4  between 475 and 500 women who finish.

          5                 Now this program that we've now

          6  instituted at the New York Sports Club, it's an

          7  eight- week program.  And remember something, it's

          8  not only for women.  It's not only that they can use

          9  the gym.  They can start using the gym as of

         10  February 1st for muscle tone and all of that, and at

         11  great hours and whatnot when they can use New York

         12  Sport Club, because it's a six- month membership.

         13  In addition, we're going to have an eight- week

         14  program, which I think was on television last week,

         15  I believe it was.  We had a press conference last

         16  week on this.  Got a lot of exposure on it, and we

         17  hope to run all women who pass this test through

         18  that program for eight weeks, hopefully right near

         19  the time that they take the physical.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Are you

         21  seeing the physical portion of the test being a

         22  barrier for the women?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  The women

         24  have had a much harder time on the physical portion

         25  of the test, yes, that's a given.  And I think that,
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          2  you know, it's the upper- body strength, that kind

          3  of thing.  But, you know, women can be trained to do

          4  it.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Exactly.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  They

          7  don't have to, you know, they don't have to be

          8  Jackie Joyner- Kersee, you know.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Exactly, we

         10  built a lot of housing in Brooklyn, and I have

         11  several women construction workers.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:

         13  Absolutely, absolutely.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  And they're

         15  better -- I say better than some of the men in terms

         16  of training, in terms of the knowledge that they

         17  retain, and, you know, I try to keep them from doing

         18  the jobs of the flags, but actually getting involved

         19  in the carpentry work.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  We worked

         21  very closely with non- traditional employment for

         22  women.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Okay.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  And they

         25  did outreach also.  Sometimes some rather
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          2  unconventional places they would do it and to get as

          3  many women as possible to apply, and I think we have

          4  a fairly large group of women who took this test,

          5  and I hope that when we get the pass rates from DCAS

          6  that that measure out. If it does, I think it's

          7  significant, particularly with the eight- week

          8  training course and the gym work.  And if people

          9  want to do it, they have to be motivated to do that,

         10  though.  I mean, you know, I have a gym membership,

         11  and a lot of times I don't want to go to the gym,

         12  but I'm just saying --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Are you

         14  using that membership?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Actually

         16  I have a membership at New York Sports Club and I'm

         17  not really using it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  All right.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  You know,

         20  but I think -- but I'm not trying to get a job.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Again, I

         22  just want to get past the, you know, the connotation

         23  that men are stronger than women physically, as, you

         24  know, it's a barrier.  It's a barrier.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yes.

                                                            52

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  When indeed,

          3  you know, we cover a lot of issues here, and I'm

          4  finding that, and I've found in my lifetime that

          5  women are just as strong or even stronger than me.

          6  But let me just, my last concern, and I say that a

          7  Chairperson of the women's issue committee, I would

          8  be a bit bias on that, but let me ask you.  In some

          9  instances when we look at the comptroller office,

         10  and we look at funding sources and funding streams

         11  for certain programs, and when we talk about it, and

         12  I put it in, in the sense of construction, there

         13  must be a certain percentage of women on certain job

         14  sites.  There must be a certain percentage of so and

         15  so, and so and so down the line. Is there -- and I

         16  don't to -- I'm trying to get away from the word

         17  quota, but is there a certain quota that the Fire

         18  Department is following, obviously not, but should

         19  there be something implemented that the outreach for

         20  women should be strong or not- for lack of a better

         21  word, stronger based on the fact that zero women

         22  made the Fire Department in the last test in

         23  February 2nd?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Well, I

         25  think the one thing is clear, is that's one of the
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          2  reasons the, you know, the initiative to the New

          3  York Sports Club was not their initiative to us.  It

          4  was our initiative to them.  One of the reasons we

          5  recognized there was a need, and we outreach to

          6  them, and I personally went up to New York Sports

          7  Club to speak to them about it.  We recognized that

          8  we needed some kind of a program that would be

          9  specially for women to help them pass the test, and

         10  pass the physical test.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Well, I

         12  just, you know, that would, of course, put more

         13  pressure on you in saying that there should be a

         14  certain amount of women that apply to the, or at

         15  least get the application or know of the

         16  information.  I very rarely hear, oh, I'm excited

         17  about being a fire person because the outreach isn't

         18  there, based on, you know, whether your job is

         19  you're doing 100 percent of what you're supposed to

         20  do or zero percent of what you're supposed to do.  I

         21  just want to sort of throw that out there in terms

         22  of --

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I

         24  understand.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  --
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          2  Sanctions, if course, and quotas, of course, is a

          3  strong word right now, but, in essence, in terms of

          4  what's happening in the economy, I think, you may

          5  see a lot more women that will join the Fire

          6  Department if, of course, they know about it, and

          7  they're aware that there is an open- door policy for

          8  the women, especially in the fire houses and

          9  everything is set up that way.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Thank you

         12  very much, Madam Chair.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Thank

         14  you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you,

         16  Council Member Boyland.

         17                 I think part of what the Council

         18  Member is talking about is perhaps looking at

         19  setting some goals for and time frames by which, you

         20  know, you say, you know, we're going to make an all-

         21  out effort, through every means possible to make a

         22  difference and a dent.  You know, it really is in

         23  the year 2001 kind of unacceptable to come forth and

         24  say that zero women, you know, are in line to become

         25  firefighters.
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          2                 Let me acknowledge Council Member

          3  Quinn.  I believe she has a question.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Thank you.

          5                 I'm sorry I missed your testimony.

          6  I'm on a lower- Manhattan select committee and we

          7  were having a meeting next door.  So if I ask

          8  something you've already referenced I apologize.

          9  Yeah, the thousandth meeting of that committee,

         10  Councilor, which is true.

         11                 I'm a little dismayed I have to say

         12  for the part of your presentation that I heard where

         13  you actually didn't even seem to have numbers of

         14  women, since the title certainly on the Council's

         15  agenda and schedule for this Committee was very

         16  clearly an oversight hearing on the Fire

         17  Department's recruitment efforts for minorities and

         18  women.  So I certainly would assume that the Fire

         19  Department was given the same information that

         20  Council Members were given, and I'm surprised that

         21  you or your staff didn't prepare the data in a way

         22  that you could have, you know, more definitively

         23  answered the questions that the Chair was asking

         24  about women.

         25                 I know you were able to flesh out the
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          2  number, I think of about 18 women on the list.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Excuse

          4  me.  That is the list, that list come from -- that's

          5  the previous example, and that's what she was asking

          6  and it was 18 women, yeah.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Right, and I

          8  was just concerned that, you know, you didn't have

          9  it.  You certainly had it broken out, the number, I

         10  think it was 700 or so for minorities, but I was

         11  just concerned that you didn't have that number

         12  broken out since the topic of this hearing was both.

         13    I would have expected the Department to come with

         14  the information broken out.

         15                 You know, that said, it seems to me

         16  that there is a recruitment crisis in the

         17  Department, and certainly the fact that number for

         18  women for this time around was zero, couldn't be a

         19  louder cry that there is a crisis, and that the

         20  Department is- and I don't assign, I'm not saying

         21  this is your intent or anything like that, but the

         22  Department is failing, clearly to effectively

         23  recruit women and something needs to be done, and

         24  I'm concerned that we're not -- that the Department

         25  may not see the situation that way.  When was the
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          2  last time that the number was zero?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Well,

          4  first of all, let me just and you might have missed

          5  this or maybe it was the context.  When the question

          6  was first raised to me, there was 18 on the previous

          7  list, 7029 that eligibility list.  I didn't even

          8  give any numbers as to blacks and Hispanics with

          9  respect to that list, that was the only question

         10  that was raised to me about that one.

         11                 I also gave numbers --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  But didn't you

         13  give, like, a 700 and something number?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Well, let

         15  me just.  I gave a number, there were 874 women

         16  applicants on this test --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Right.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  -- That

         19  we just gave.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Right.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  And there

         22  were 547 who took it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Right.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I have

         25  not given any statistics other than the applicants
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          2   -- for applicants who took the exam, that's all I

          3  have.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  But I think

          5  Council Member Clarke asked you how many women,

          6  because you had said something to the effect of and

          7  when we go through this list, there will be x-

          8  numbers of minorities who will move forward on the

          9  list.  And then when Council Member Clarke said, the

         10  obvious question and the obvious follow up, well,

         11  when you go through this list, assuming that

         12  everybody is still on the list, and still is looking

         13  for a job and still wants this job, how many women

         14  will there be, you said you weren't sure at first

         15  because the information you had only broke it out in

         16  minorities, and you weren't sure whether, I assume,

         17  whether the women were included in the minority

         18  number or not.  And then I think you came up --

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  This is a

         20  previous administration, the previous test, that was

         21  what I was referring to.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Right

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I said

         24  there were 18 women.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Right.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  That's

          3  it.  Eighteen women.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Right.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  And I

          6  think what happened was, I had two separate

          7  breakdown here:  One for minorities, and on the

          8  second page there was minorities and women --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Right.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  -- Which

         11  was broken out, the 18, that's, you know.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  On the list

         13  that's pending there are --

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  It's not

         15  this campaign, you know that, right?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Yes.  I

         17  understand that, but it's -- nonetheless, I mean, I

         18  think it's relevant because you raised this list as

         19  something that the Department would draw from, and

         20  then reference that when you drew from it there was

         21  this number of minorities that would move forward

         22  through the system -- at least that's what I was

         23  understanding you to say.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Well, we

         25  have to draw from that list.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  So it's

          3  relevant, that's my only point.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  You inherited

          6  the list, but it's nonetheless relevant --

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Right.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  -- Because

          9  it's the base from which you start.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  And the

         11  Chair asked me about that, and that's what I

         12  responded to.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Right, and I

         14  guess I was distressed that it seemed that the

         15  number wasn't broken out.  But let's move on.

         16                 It's not a big number to start from,

         17  it's an inherited number, but it's not a big number

         18  to start from.  But the effort under this

         19  Administration didn't get such a big number either.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  We don't

         21  know what the final number is; we don't.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  But what was

         23  the number zero then related to?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  No, what

         25  you heard, I think, was a percentage breakout.  What
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          2  the number was -- oh, yeah, the last Proby class.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Yes.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  That's

          5  what you're referring to.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Yes.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  The last

          8  Proby class which is based upon that list.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Correct.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  That was

         11  the number zero, yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Right.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:

         14  Absolutely.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  So let me go

         16  back to my initial point.  I think those are

         17  startling number, but a crisis, as it relates

         18  whether you inherited it, whether -- well, for

         19  whatever reason, look, the fiscal crisis is what it

         20  is, you know, Mayor Bloomberg didn't make the

         21  physical crisis, but now it's his problem.  So I

         22  would argue that these numbers scream of a crisis as

         23  it relates to the Department, inherited or otherwise

         24  recruitment effort with relationship to recruiting

         25  women into the Department.  And I'm not saying that
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          2  they're your fault, Commissioner, but it is what it

          3  is.  And I'm concerned that the Department is not

          4  responding to that as if it is a crisis, and

          5  wondering what steps are going to be taken.  Well,

          6  one, do you agree with me?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Right.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  And then --

          9  right.  Yeah, do you agree with me?  Do you think

         10  there's a crisis?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I think

         12  we took enormous steps in this present campaign, and

         13  are still taking then to ensure that we have as many

         14  women as possible.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  But do you

         16  agree with me in my perspective that those are

         17  really, inherent or otherwise, really points to a

         18  crisis?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I think

         20  that the lack of women and minorities in the

         21  Department is a serious problem, which we have been

         22  trying to address.  That's as simple as I can put

         23  it, I mean, that's what we're about, that's what

         24  we're about, that's what the campaign was about.

         25  And I don't know if we would have gotten as many
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          2  applicants that were women, as we have, if it had

          3  not been for our efforts.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  And why do you

          5  think it's such that those applicants aren't then

          6  turning into firefighters?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I think

          8  that the previous one had a lot to do with the

          9  physical part of the exam and that's what we're

         10  trying to address with New York Sports Club and the

         11  special training for women.  We're talking about

         12  women in particular, that's what I think had a lot

         13  to do with it.  And also in terms of whether or not,

         14  you know, why more women don't apply, I'm not sure

         15  about that, and that's why the Colombia study we're

         16  trying to do, we're trying to deal with.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  So can you

         18  decide what you think that the reason women weren't

         19  becoming firefighters is because they weren't

         20  physically able?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I'm

         22  talking about once they're in the process.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Right.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  You know,

         25  one of the problems was the physical part of the
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          2  exam, yes, in terms of whether they could pass that,

          3  yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  And so your

          5  data shows that the majority of women who didn't get

          6  over the hurdle, didn't get over the hurdle because

          7  they failed the physical part?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Well,

          9  first of all, when you asked me that question, I

         10  didn't say anything about data.  I just said people

         11  have asked me impressionistically what my thinking

         12  is.  I was not here to -- there is no data that I

         13  know of, other than what I've been told by different

         14  uniforms with respect to why women did not pass, and

         15  everybody seems to acknowledge that the upper body

         16  strength is a serious issue and we need to train for

         17  that, which we're trying to do.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  I guess the

         19  fact that there's no data is, in fact, itself a

         20  problem.  Because I would think that if in this

         21  process if women and minorities are, you know, one

         22  part is obviously getting people to sign up, right?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  So that

         25  there's a whole analysis which one would want to do
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          2  of why people are -- minorities and women are not

          3  signing up.  Let's set that aside for a second.  But

          4  it seems to me troubling that if you're having

          5  minorities and women, and in this case women sign up

          6  and then not continue to step through the process,

          7  at a rate which I would characterize as alarming, it

          8  would seem to me that the Department would want to

          9  say, okay, let's figure out where the women fell out

         10  and why.  And if, in fact, the majority fell out

         11  because they couldn't pass the physical exam, which

         12  I bet probably isn't the case, then we would know

         13  that, and we would respond accordingly. But it seems

         14  to me like if the Department was going to plan

         15  responses to the situation, you would, in fact, need

         16  to know what the factual information was that caused

         17  this situation.  You know what I mean, in this case

         18  or in any situation, so that the Department hasn't

         19  analyzed when and how women fell out of the process

         20  and didn't move forward to me is troubling.

         21                 I would ask and request that you do

         22  that and get back to the Committee with where it is

         23  women fell out of the process, to see whether your

         24  sense and the information you have heard from

         25  firefighters in the field is accurate, and I think

                                                            66

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  only really with that data would we be able to have

          3  the most accurate response.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  We will

          5  provide you with that information.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Great.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  But in

          8  the event that it was the physical side of it, we've

          9  plotted for that and planned for that for this

         10  particular exam.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  With the

         12  Sports Club.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yeah,

         14  yeah, with the two parts of the Sports Club.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  And the NOW

         16  Legal Defense Fund was helpful with getting that as

         17  well.  Is that correct?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  NOW Legal

         19  Defense was helpful, but most of that effort was

         20  involved, frankly, my own effort.  I went up to see

         21  them and alone and my staff, but they were helpful,

         22  yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Because

         24  they're making so much money off of you not going to

         25  the gym, they were able to extend this.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  With

          3  that, they are making a lot of money, yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  And me too for

          5  that matter.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I think

          7  about $90 a month actually.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Yeah.  They

          9  want to put me in that chit list too.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Good, you

         12  could offer me up.

         13                 Okay.  Well, I'll be anxious to look

         14  for that information, and I may once we see it.

         15  Working, of course, with the Chair, who has been a

         16  leader on this issue want to follow up and have us

         17  sit down and look at the points along the process.

         18  So I'll be anxious to see that.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Thank

         20  you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Thank you.

         22                 And I just want to apologize, I may

         23  have to run back to my other hearing.  So, sorry

         24  about that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you.
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          2                 Would you let Chairmen Gerson know

          3  that I'm chairing a hearing today?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Absolutely.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I'm also a

          6  member of that committee.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  Absolutely.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I want to state

          9  that I think one of the areas that we'd like to

         10  impress upon you and perhaps giving guidance to

         11  Colombia is this issue of attrition, and at what

         12  point along the line that we're seeing this massive

         13  attrition among women as one distinct category, and

         14  then among minorities.  Because certainly to fix

         15  this issue we need to know where to apply the

         16  appropriate remedies, and that is going to be

         17  critical going forward.

         18                 Let me call on Council Member

         19  Monserrate of Queens to ask his questions at this

         20  time.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank

         22  you, Madam Chair, and your leadership on this issue

         23  is truly appreciated.

         24                 Commissioner, is it afternoon or

         25  morning?  Good morning still.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Good

          3  morning.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  We're

          5  still in the morning.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Good

          7  morning.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  We're

          9  getting there.

         10                 It's good to have you here along with

         11  Chief Parr.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Thank

         13  you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Good

         15  morning.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Also,

         17  Tarece Johnson is here also, who is Directive

         18  Director of Initiatives.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  How are

         20  you too? Welcome to our chambers.

         21                 I have a question.  I understand

         22  there was an outreach effort.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Excuse

         24  me, sir.  This is Don Schackner (phonetic), who is

         25  the Deputy Commissioner of Inter- Governmental
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          2  Relations.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  How are

          4  you?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SCHACKNER:  We're

          6  doing good.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Which I

          8  did not introduce.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  There was

         10  a media campaign.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  There was

         13  an outreach campaign to recruit.  How much of that

         14  was actually from the City's budget, from the Fire

         15  Department's budget?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Two-

         17  point- seven million dollars was from private

         18  sources.  We did have people starting on May 20th.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  My

         20  question is how much --

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  None of

         22  that 2.7 million dollar.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  All

         24  right.  In the outreach campaign how much of the

         25  Agency's money?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Oh, 1.6

          3  million dollars was Agency money.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  One-

          5  point- six million.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Was

          8  agency money.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Uh-huh.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  And 2.7

         11  in donations and pro bono.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  It's

         13  really more than that.  We're going to give some

         14  updated information about what we have -- what it

         15  has cost the Agency because those figures still

         16  coming in.  The campaign is still going on, and it

         17  probably is going to be close to a couple million

         18  dollars at the time.  We also are getting, you know,

         19  if everybody joins, takes out the membership with

         20  New York Sports Club, that's at four million

         21  dollars, and the training for women, that's about a

         22  four- million dollar effort if it's, you know,

         23  everybody participates in that, and that's their

         24  money, of course.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Right.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I think

          3  that's it.

          4                 Yeah, Time- Warner was a million-

          5  dollar donation.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  But

          7  that's in that 2.7, right?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  No, no,

          9  well, that's a separate one.  Two- point- seven, one

         10  million is different.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Okay.

         12  Maybe just for clarity sake, can you give me a

         13  figure on how much of it was outside money, and you

         14  already said from Agency is 1.6 million?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  R&L, New

         16  York Sports Club, and Time- Warner is 7.7 million,

         17  and 1.6 million is the City, not part of that money.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Okay.  So

         19  that's 7.7 is training and different things.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yes, it

         21  is.  It's outreach.  It's also community outreach

         22  going into the communities.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Right.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  That's

         25  what that is, yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Okay.

          3                 I just want to turn your attention to

          4  Page 13 of your testimony.  You said on the third

          5  paragraph.

          6                 This figure here of the 17,743 who

          7  took the written exam, which exam was that?  Was

          8  that the last exam?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yes.

         10  Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  And

         12  approximately 97 percent are male, three percent are

         13  female.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Uh- huh.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Seventy-

         16  seven are white, 12 percent Hispanic, eight percent

         17  black, two percent Asian, and less than one percent

         18  Native American.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  That's

         20  right.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  That's

         22  the last exam.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  That's

         24  right.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  And you
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          2  think that this is a great increase from prior

          3  exams.  Is that what you?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  No, it's

          5  not.  I did not say that, no.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  No,

          7  that's what I'm asking.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  No, I

          9  don't.  It's pretty consistent with the last one

         10  actually, and in that you know, which is -- I think

         11  it's one point over the last one.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  One point

         13  over.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I think

         15  it's 22 percent.  I believe if you add, I mean, give

         16  or take some numbers.  These numbers are still

         17  coming in.  There's a protest period, a DCAS where

         18  people protest scores and stuff like that, so we

         19  don't know that yet.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Right.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  So they

         22  will change slightly.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Well,

         24  quite frankly, these numbers are pretty dismal I

         25  think in comparison to the makeup of this City,
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          2  which this is the last exam.  You know, I don't know

          3  whether I should just throw my hands up and say, I

          4  don't know, maybe we're swimming against the waves,

          5  but these numbers are horrible.  These numbers are

          6  horrible, and I commend what you're trying to do,

          7  but at the end of the day, you know, results are

          8  what matter.

          9                 You know, I did some studying on the

         10  issue.  I know that in LA, in Los Angeles, there was

         11  actually a consent decrees.  Are you familiar with

         12  that?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  There are

         14  a number of consent decrees in a number of cities.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Right.

         16  And in Los Angeles's model and that consent decree

         17  actually diversified the Department.  I think it

         18  became over 60 percent minorities and women with the

         19  figures I saw recently.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Well, a

         21  consent decree obviously, you know, the judge can

         22  determine what the judge wants to do.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Right.

         24  So does the City of New York need a judge to

         25  determine that?  Maybe the Commissioner should be
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          2  answering this question, right?  I don't know why

          3  the Commissioner is not here, but this seems to be

          4  as relevant an issue in New York City as any other,

          5  the diversity or the non- diversity of our Fire

          6  Department?

          7                 I want to draw your attention to the

          8  equal employment practices here, right, in the City

          9  of New York.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Oh, yes.

         11  Yeah.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  They

         13  claim that there's four actions that your Agency

         14  have not undertaken.  One is the year- round

         15  recruitment team.  Second one if the full

         16  involvement of the advisory committee.  Third, a

         17  documentation of your mentoring activity.  And

         18  fourth, and most important, the adverse impact study

         19  from the FDNY's 30 college- credit requirement,

         20  which many folks have discussed as being another

         21  hinderance.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Well, I

         23  think that there is a response to that.  What's the

         24  date of that?  What's the date of what you're

         25  reading from?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  The

          3  report, the draft of the minutes is December 11th.

          4  The meeting with staff was February of this year.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yeah.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Do you

          7  have a response to that?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  There is

          9  a response that went to the employment practices

         10  commission, which I will certainly provide.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Do you

         12  know offhand in context what that response stated to

         13  those four steps that the Commission has stated the

         14  Agency has not undertaken?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I would

         16  rather let the report answer that, you know, just

         17  because, you know, it may be very nuance that I may

         18  miss something, and I'd rather than to tell you

         19  something that is inaccurate, I would rather not do

         20  that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Right.

         22  Okay.  Let me be more specific then.

         23                 Will the FDNY conduct an adverse

         24  impact study to determine whether new educational

         25  requirements and written firefighter exam
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          2  disproportionally screen out members of historically

          3  under- represented groups?  That's my question.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Let me

          5  just say this. I think that that answer to those

          6  question is something that was, I believe, was sent

          7  out of the Commissioner's office, and I think to

          8  give you that response, I don't want to characterize

          9  the response other than providing the information.

         10  That would be my preference.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  So you

         12  don't know if there's going to be an adverse- impact

         13  study.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I can't

         15  answer those questions.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Well,

         17  maybe we can have it faxed over.  I really, I find

         18  myself, I know we have discussed it.  We've met with

         19  you, and we've had the Commissioner here before.  I

         20  don't know what it takes, I guess, all I can say to

         21  all the groups involved is, you know, you should

         22  petition the courts to sanction the Fire Department

         23  in the City of New York because clearly the results

         24  are not consistent with what should be.

         25                 And the clearest comparison was made
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          2  by Council Member Boyland.  You know, in the '70s

          3  and the early '80s the New York City Police

          4  Department was overwhelmingly male whites, and there

          5  was an intense effort made by the Agency, in large

          6  part due to public outcry for some social justice

          7  issues that have existed, continue to exist to some

          8  degree.  And in those 10, 20 years there was a

          9  strong effort made to recruit and diversify, and now

         10  the Department, though they're not where they need

         11  to be, is a lot closer to where they need to be, and

         12  there's representation there.

         13                 And the fact that you're here and

         14  Chief Parr is here is absolutely wonderful, but we

         15  need to make sure that the entire Agency is

         16  reflective of the City, and I know you very well

         17  understand that.  I just don't know if the entire

         18  Agency and the Commissioner is as equally committed

         19  to making it happen, not just tell us about reports

         20  and media campaigns.  We want some results.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SHACKMAN:  I just

         22  want to point out that I did contact the Chairs.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Could you just

         24  state your name for the record please?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SHACKMAN:  Sure.
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          2  Daniel Shackman, Deputy Fire Commissioner.

          3                 I did contact the Chair's office

          4  prior to the hearing to let her know that

          5  Commissioner Scoppetta had a medical appointment

          6  this morning, that's why he's not here.  He's doing

          7  great physically and recovering fine, but I did

          8  inform the Chair that that's where he was.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Okay.

         10  Nonetheless, our prayers are with Mr. Scoppetta, and

         11  we hope him a speedy and healthy recovery and that

         12  he's well.

         13                 That aside, there are the underlying

         14  issues that we're discussing today is the great

         15  imbalance of representation in this Department.  And

         16  I'm tired of hearing rhetoric; we want results in

         17  this City.  Our communities deserve it, and we want

         18  to see it.

         19                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Thank

         21  you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you,

         23  Council Member Monserrate.

         24                 I think it's going to be important

         25  for us to find out from the Department, from the
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          2  Commissioner whether they responded to the EEPC

          3  questions.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I do know

          5  there is a response.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  We need to get a

          7  copy of that --

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  -- As soon as

         10  possible.

         11                 Again, you know, I think this is

         12  really a team effort here.  The Council is

         13  interested in seeing the same thing the Department

         14  is interested in in achieving.  I think that there's

         15  a greater sense of urgency perhaps on or there's a

         16  perception of a greater sense of urgency on behalf

         17  of Council Members.  We represent the constituencies

         18  that make up the City of New York, and certainly we

         19  want to get to the bottom of what it's going to take

         20  to make this thing work.

         21                 It just appears as though, you know,

         22  we're kind of stuck in a rut, and there doesn't seem

         23  to be the type of consistent effort.  You know, we

         24  should still be recruiting as we sit here, women and

         25  men for this Department.  It should be an ongoing
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          2  campaign, and it's going to take a very high level

          3  of commitment, coming out of the Department, from

          4  the ranking file, straight through to management.

          5  You know, you're talking about going against a

          6  century's old culture, and to do it on an as needed

          7  basis is not going to make a dent in a culture that

          8  has, you know, historically just not been open.

          9  Let's be real here. I think, you know, we're looking

         10  for a real commitment that permeates the Department,

         11  and we're also looking for -- not a prolong,

         12  protracted, let's do a feasibility study and see

         13  what Colombia says, but what can we do in the

         14  interim, knowing that this is a goal to make this

         15  thing happen.

         16                 We have Council Member Lopez who has

         17  a question.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Good morning,

         19  sir.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Good

         21  morning.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Thank you for

         23  being here.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Good

         25  morning.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I am one of

          3  those Council Members who was here in 1999.  In

          4  1999, I also was one of those Council Members who

          5  were part of the people of color delegation, who

          6  were extremely concerned about a lack of recruitment

          7  that reflect an appropriate effort to bring on board

          8  women and people of color into the Department.  I

          9  know for a fact, at this point I am convinced that

         10  this new Administration have the intention to

         11  increase the people of color numbers and women in

         12  the Department. And the reason I know that is

         13  because I was exposed to those other meetings in

         14  which the reluctantness (sic) of the prior

         15  Administration was clear about not increasing those

         16  numbers. That was extremely clear to me.

         17                 In 1999, it said, reporting here,

         18  that the recruitment of Latinos was higher than in

         19  the year that follow. And one of the things that I

         20  remember of that year was that I, together with all

         21  of the Latino contra- parts that we have in here,

         22  took upon ourselves to take over applications.  And

         23  we distribute those application in our

         24  neighborhoods.

         25                 One of the things that I wanted to

                                                            84

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  ask you is why you don't include the Council Members

          3  in this efforts?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  You know,

          5  Councilwoman, the truth of the matter is I did reach

          6  out to Council Members regarding even using their

          7  offices, and the way I recall it, and maybe the

          8  Chair won't agree with me, but I seem to recall

          9  asking about whether or not we could use the City

         10  Council to be a, you know, a location for

         11  application forms, and I remember even coming up

         12  with an idea, why can't, you know, the scholarships

         13  of $35 could be provided by those City Council

         14  Member offices as a small amount of money, even if

         15  you were talking about 30 each, that would be

         16  tremendous.  And I just didn't get any real response

         17  to that.  That was just one of many things we were

         18  trying to do, but I just thought that seemed to be

         19  an obvious place.  So I remember reaching out.

         20                 The problem is, I can't say

         21  specifically.  I thought I reached out to the Chair,

         22  but maybe I did not.  I did reach out to you.  Yeah,

         23  I did talk to you about that, and I was really

         24  interested in doing something, but never seemed to

         25  go anyplace, and I don't know why exactly at this
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          2  point.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  That's

          4  fascinating because in 1999, I tell you, I

          5  distribute forms myself.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yeah.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I go a step

          8  further.  I call for a meeting in my community from

          9  or constituency --

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  -- To come and

         12  take the applications and be able to distribute into

         13  the community.

         14                 Then one of the things I wanted to

         15  call your attention to is to that piece, that

         16  Council Members who are here, who represent

         17  communities of color, should be reached out to for

         18  this effort to be more successful.  I wanted to ask

         19  you in regard of women, specifically -- and before I

         20  say that this evoke to me a very interesting memory.

         21

         22                 On September 11, I saw firefighters

         23  and firefighters being projected as heros in our

         24  community and they were.  Like a month after that I

         25  went to a school to talk to the childrens (sic) in
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          2  my school to find out how they were doing. The

          3  schools in my district are predominantly of color,

          4  Latinos, heavily representation of them.  One child

          5  asked me if we didn't have heros.  And I asked him

          6  what do you mean by that?  The child told me because

          7  every hero that they project on the TV is not

          8  Latino.  That was a sad moment for me, a very sad

          9  moment because on September 11, I was looking at the

         10  same pictures and I was thinking the same thing, but

         11  I thought that I was an adult and that occurred to

         12  me but not to a child.  That child said that to me.

         13                 Then for me the issue of the Fire

         14  Department representation of people of color is

         15  beyond the question of the jobs.  It had to do with

         16  creating a new understanding that communities of

         17  color contribute to the City in the same way that

         18  any other community does.  And the Department need

         19  to be indicted about perpetrating an image of people

         20  of color that is not true, and it has to be

         21  indicted.  The for that reason I think that the

         22  Administration has to be commended for what they

         23  trying to do now in regard of increasing those

         24  number.

         25                 I'm saying all this to tell you the
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          2  following thing.  I want to know what is the

          3  participation of the union and the subculture that

          4  exist in that Department in regard of recruiting

          5  women and people of color?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  You said

          7  the?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  The subculture

          9  of the union in that particular Department in regard

         10  of requesting the increment of women as member of

         11  that Department and people of color.  And let me say

         12  why I tell you this.  I have a very good friend, her

         13  name is Micdalium Aldonaldo (phonetic), and I met in

         14  her in 1978.  She was in charge of suing the

         15  Carpenter's Union, the Electrician Union, the

         16  Plumber's Union.  Why; because the Union was the

         17  responsible party for discrimination against people

         18  of color.

         19                 Then in this case I'm asking you what

         20  is the participation of the union inside of the

         21  Department to increase the level of women and people

         22  of color?  I want to know the subculture in the

         23  Department?  How the subculture is helping this

         24  process to change?  And it is happening because I

         25  would not be willing to apply to a place whereas a
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          2  women I'm going to be treated like an non- welcoming

          3  person.  It will be very difficult. The job is

          4  difficult itself; it's dangerous, then for me to

          5  feel that I am not welcome in there is an item and

          6  is an issue.  And I want to know if something in the

          7  Department has been done about looking into that

          8  aspect, and if that play a role.  I'm not saying

          9  with that, that that play a role, but I'm asking

         10  because I have been curious for long time,

         11  particularly in the hearing in 1999.  The testimony

         12  that was provided here to us by the Commissioner at

         13  the time, mention the following this.  He said that

         14  in the Department was a lot of uncles, cousins,

         15  brothers, sister -- no, no sister.  I'm sorry,

         16  correct myself, dumb me. Brothers, uncles, cousins,

         17  fathers, sons.  He mentioned that in the testimony

         18  because the series of questions that was asked by

         19  us, that caught my attention because immediately I

         20  begin thinking about what is the kind of subculture

         21  that exist there that perpetrate the lack of

         22  diversing (sic) and making the Department different

         23  and inclusive?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Well, let

         25  me just say it is very simple.  Of course, the
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          2  Recruitment Unit is not, you know, the people in the

          3  Recruitment Unit, whether it's Battalion Chief Parr

          4  or any of the uniforms, of course, you know, he

          5  would be in the uniformed fire offices, and the

          6  uniforms would be uniformed firefighters.  There is

          7  that level of it.

          8                 As to whether or not there is any

          9  union involvement, you know, from the head of the

         10  union with me or with the Recruitment Unit, I don't

         11  know of any.  The only thing I know of is, is I

         12  remember Steven Cassidy (phonetic), head of the

         13  uniform firefighters, made a very positive comment,

         14  and the Chief some point during the campaign about

         15  the need to have more minorities and women.  Let me

         16  overstate this.  I don't know if he made a positive

         17  statement about recruitment and I believe minorities

         18  and women.  This is a while ago that I read it.

         19  That's the only involvement that I know of by the

         20  unions in our recruitment effort, and, of course,

         21  their members do, but not the leadership of the

         22  union.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Well, is it an

         24  intention of the Department to try to figure out

         25  what are the aspects that impair the recruitment of
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          2  women and people of color.  And I keep saying women

          3  first because I think that they are the most

          4  rejected, discriminated, and not welcome in that

          5  Department, more than anybody else.  And personally,

          6  sir, I believe it's because in the Department is a

          7  subculture of male dominance understanding of

          8  business.  You know, the male center way of looking

          9  at things. And personally, I think that that's the

         10  reason why that operate in that fashion.  Then I

         11  predict that you going to have a hell of a time

         12  trying to bring in women inside of the Department

         13  just for that, just for that reason.  And unless I

         14  see that the Department is producing some kind of

         15  initiative to deal with that kind of subculture

         16  inside of the Department, I don't see how you can

         17  resolve this issues, and I wonder if you have

         18  initiative geared to that.  I wonder if you have

         19  contemplated that part of what is stopping this

         20  process is the will of the entire Department to make

         21  it move forward because this issue is not just the

         22  leadership trying to make it happen.

         23                 You can have the best intentions in

         24  place, but this is an issue that belong to everybody

         25  who is in there trying to move this forward.  And
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          2  I'm saying this part because I had here testimony

          3  here of the women who are in the Department, who has

          4  testified in this room that their life inside of the

          5  Department is not the kind of a welcoming kind of

          6  life.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  I

          8  understand what you're saying, you know, that the

          9  subculture or the institutional framework is opposed

         10  or is not welcoming to women and to minorities.  I

         11  understand what you're saying, and it's systemic and

         12  all the words that we know about, and that things

         13  will not change until that changes, that's

         14  essentially what you're saying, I think.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Exactly, and I

         16  want to know if the Department have contemplated --

         17  I don't want to call it training, I don't want to

         18  call it, you know, having heart- to heart group of

         19  anything like that -- I just think that the

         20  Department need to look at this reality, and the

         21  Department need to put in place a mechanism to begin

         22  dealing with that.  And it need to happen because if

         23  it doesn't happen, then what you're doing is

         24  perpetrating the situation in the following context.

         25  Let's say you have 40 women applying through a
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          2  lawsuit, and they became involved and they became

          3  hired.  Today it's less than 25. I wonder why, that

          4  the women who were there and left did not told the

          5  sister, look, this is a good job, you will be

          6  appreciated in there, you will be welcoming in

          7  there.  Or they came out and said, that place is

          8  hell, do not apply, do not become part of it, and

          9  unless you see some changes that had to do with that

         10  also, your recruitment efforts are not going to be

         11  successful because I don't see who will be willing

         12  to submit them self to the situation like that,

         13  knowing that they are not going to be welcome in

         14  there.

         15                 Then I'm saying to you, and I don't

         16  want to put you in the spot in any way, I'm saying

         17  this to you, and I'm suggesting this from the bottom

         18  of my heart, and from the top of my head, that is

         19  very much against discrimination, that unless the

         20  Department begin putting some kind of a structure

         21  there, that begin dealing with institutionalize

         22  behavior that come from the male oriented way of

         23  functioning, you're going to have a hell of a time

         24  trying to fix this problem.  I don't see how it can

         25  change.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Thank you

          3  for not putting me on the spot, and thank you for

          4  your comments.  Really, I understand what you're

          5  saying, and, you know, I understand.  I mean,

          6  obviously we will talk about those issues in the

          7  Department, and I will definitely talk about those

          8  issues in the Department.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  Thank you.

         10                                And the last thing

         11  that I want to say is I very, very, very strongly

         12  suggest to you that in the last recruitment effort,

         13  very strongly, I believe that you should reach out

         14  to each and every one of the Council Members of the

         15  Council who represent communities of color.  It

         16  doesn't matter if the Council Member is Latino,

         17  black, Asian --

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  -- Or white.

         20  If they represent communities of color in the

         21  district, you should target those Council Members.

         22  And in my opinion, the Department should call for a

         23  meeting with all of them, and invite them to be part

         24  of the recruitment effort.  And I'm saying this to

         25  you because I had done this in my district before
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          2  with other jobs.  I had called for a forum in my

          3  community where I target my community the way I know

          4  how.  You see in my community -- my community in my

          5  case, for example, they trust me.  When they see my

          6  face in something they come because they think it's

          7  real, and I want you to know that I am not going to

          8  put my name in something that is not, then go both

          9  ways.  They know that I speak, you know, as is. Then

         10  if we engage in a recruitment effort with you, I

         11  think that you have a better chance to be more

         12  successful in getting the pool of applicant higher;

         13  therefore, you will have a better opportunity to get

         14  that in place.

         15                 And the last point is, unless the

         16  Department engage in a preparation program for

         17  people who will apply, the Department is going to

         18  fail royally, continuously because the children who

         19  do not have exposure to the culture that I was

         20  talking about in the Fire Department, those children

         21  don't know squat of what it is to be a firefighter,

         22  then unless you have a pre- training, a pre-

         23  approach to this children that become graduated that

         24  aren't, you know, ready to go into this job, and

         25  unless you do it in advance of the test, I don't see
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          2  how you're going to be successful.  And that's a

          3  reason I think that you are not getting the success

          4  that you need in the reaching out.  The only thing

          5  that you get is the pretty photos, you know, and

          6  then companies that do this advertising, making a

          7  lot of money from the taxpayers dollars, but nothing

          8  else.

          9                 And thank you for being here.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Thank you

         11  very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Margarita, just

         13  to clarify something.

         14                 There was a discussion with

         15  Commissioner White, myself, and we did make a

         16  presentation before the caucus, and prepare packages

         17  in the last round of recruitment.  But let me just

         18  state this, I think what is important in the process

         19  is that there be a framework under which we operate.

         20    Because, you know, we were given the information,

         21  we discussed it.  We handed applications and a

         22  package to people, but, you know, setting goals,

         23  targeting, working within a framework of time, all

         24  of those pieces so that it's an all- out assault, we

         25  didn't formalize it to that extent, and I think that
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          2  that is something that we must do going forward.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I do agree,

          4  and I don't want to imply that you didn't present

          5  that to us in our caucus.   I remember very clear

          6  that that happen.

          7                 My suggestion here is that that need

          8  to go beyond that.  It need to be an orchestrated

          9  attempt, very specific, very designed to reach out

         10  to numbers, internal -- I'm going to use the word

         11  quota -- I am not ashamed to use it.  I feel it's a

         12  wonderful word and I'm going to continue to use it,

         13  contrary to the position of the President of the

         14  United State.  That we should be asked for quotas of

         15  the amount of people that we reach out to and bring

         16  in into the process.  And again, I said a wonderful

         17  way of doing this is holding forums in each one of

         18  our Council Member districts and reach out from

         19  there, and we can do that with the Department

         20  because each one of us have fire houses, then we can

         21  do this is combination with them.  I mean, it's not

         22  reinventing the planet.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay.

          3                 Commissioner, I want to thank you.  I

          4  think you've got a sense of where we're coming from.

          5    We're definitely going to be following up on this.

          6    I had a couple more questions, but we have a few

          7  more pressing issues --

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  -- And a lot

         10  more testimony on this issue that we'd like to take.

         11                 One of the things that I'd certainly

         12  like you to consider is setting up a framework for

         13  rolling admissions or I guess rolling admissions is

         14  what you use for admitting classes into a college

         15  situation, but for recruitment because it's our

         16  understanding that there's a four- year gap between

         17  each, you know, I don't believe it's necessary.

         18  NYPD doesn't do that, and it hasn't been

         19  substantiated why the FDNY has to.  I'd like you to

         20  take a look at that, and I think that it's important

         21  that we certainly continue the preparation of

         22  communities for continued recruitment efforts beyond

         23  the period before refiling.  That must become a part

         24  of what your Recruitment Unit is about.  If they're

         25  not working 24/7/365, then, you know, then it's
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          2  going to be hard for us to substantiate why a

          3  Recruitment Unit is even need, and clearly there's a

          4  lot of recruitment work to be done.

          5                 So I'd like that that be taken back,

          6  and I'd also like to get an assessment of the

          7  individuals within that unit, of the people who are

          8  responsible for recruitment because to be quite

          9  frank with you, I'm going to be extremely honest

         10  here.  A lot of folks of color were put into this

         11  process.  I don't know if their hands were tied, I

         12  don't know what the situation was, even women were

         13  brought into this process and I don't understand if

         14  they reflect the communities that we're targeting

         15  for recruitment why they weren't successful, that is

         16  beyond me.  And I don't appreciate window dressing.

         17  So that if, you know, people of color are being

         18  placed in a particular unit to get a job done and

         19  they're not performing, I don't care who, I want to

         20  see performance.

         21                 The City of New York requires

         22  performance, and so we want to know whether there's

         23  some hand tieing going on in there, whether there's

         24  a lack of real resource or perhaps the talent that's

         25  required is not necessarily there to get the job
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          2  done.  There's no way that we want to see another

          3  recruitment drive put out there and not get the

          4  results that this City needs, requires and deserves.

          5                 Thank you very much, Commissioner.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WHITE:  Just let

          7  me just one follow up.  The issue of the four- year

          8  test opposed to a two- year test and things of that

          9  sort.

         10                 One of the things you may want to

         11  talk to is also DCAS about that, who administers

         12  that.  And I just want to say that I appreciate

         13  being here.  I think that -- and I comments that you

         14  all have given, given me certainly and the unit, we

         15  will consider and deal with.

         16                 And I would like to thank the

         17  Council, the Chair, as well as the other Council

         18  Members.  Thanks a lot.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  My colleagues,

         20  we are going to move very swiftly here because we do

         21  have some time constraints where some of our

         22  testimony is concerned with respect to the topic of

         23  women in minority recruitment, but as I stated when

         24  we first opened this hearing, there's a resolution

         25  before us to be voted upon today.
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          2                 The topic of the Committee's January

          3  16th hearing, where we heard testimony on the

          4  resolution which was Resolution 547- A, supports two

          5  bills:  One before Congress, and one that will soon

          6  be reintroduced into the New York State Legislature,

          7  that restore the right of vote to parolees.  After

          8  this vote we will continue with our hearing on

          9  female and minority recruitment within the FDNY.

         10                 In the 2000 elections over 4.65

         11  million Americans, including 131,273 New Yorker were

         12  unable to vote due to the felony disenfranchisement

         13  laws.  Many states permanently prevent people who

         14  have already completed their sentencing -- excuse

         15  me- their sentences from voting.

         16                 In New York, like in 32 other states,

         17  people cannot vote while on parole.  Minorities tend

         18  to suffer most from these laws.  One- point- four

         19  million African/American men, representing 13

         20  percent of the African/American male adult

         21  population are disenfranchised.

         22                 In addition, these laws discourage

         23  ex- offenders from reintegrating into society.

         24  People who have left prison should feel encouraged

         25  to participate in society and to feel like they are

                                                            101

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  part of a community and its laws.  By denying ex

          3  offenders the right to vote, we send a message to

          4  them, a very different message, a message that they

          5  are not wanted.

          6                 US House Resolution 259 will help to

          7  change this by allowing all parolees, nationwide, to

          8  vote in Federal elections.  New York State Assembly

          9  Bill S2039 -- excuse me -- Senate Bill, which was

         10  introduced last session by Senator Tom Dwayne

         11  (phonetic), and that I understand will see be

         12  reintroduced will also help the situation in New

         13  York.  This bill gives ex felons the right to vote

         14  in local, state, and federal elections as soon as

         15  they're released from prison on parole.

         16                 For these reasons I strongly support

         17  proposed Resolution 547- A, and urge my colleagues

         18  to also lend their support.

         19                 I'd like to ask the sponsor of this

         20  legislation if he'd like to make a statement at this

         21  time.  Council Member Bill Perkins?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you

         23  very much, Chairwoman.

         24                 I want to express my appreciation to

         25  you and your staff for the expeditious manner in
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          2  which you have shepherded this resolution, not only

          3  before the Committee, but ultimately before the

          4  body, and to compliment you on an extraordinarily

          5  informative hearing that you held on this

          6  resolution, and the well documented hearing.

          7  Especially I want to also thank for the record, the

          8  presence of Congressman Connors (phonetic), who

          9  joined us from Detroit because of the significance

         10  of this particular resolution, and essentially the

         11  significant of the movement to restore the voting

         12  rights to those who are either felons or who are on

         13  parole.

         14                 Our justice system is built on the

         15  premise that once an offender serves his or her

         16  time, they have repaid their debt to society.  But

         17  what is happening in our State and nation with

         18  respect to re- enfranchising such individuals is

         19  fundamentally wrong.  We should be encouraging

         20  voting as part of the rehabilitation and

         21  reintegration process, not opposing it.

         22                 And I might add that the statistics

         23  reveal that there is a discriminatory nature to the

         24  denial of these rights, and that the vast majority

         25  of those who losing their rights are those of color,

                                                            103

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  African/Americans and Latinos in New York State and

          3  throughout our country.  So I appreciate, again,

          4  your support of this, and I want to thank your

          5  Committee in advance for the support that they will

          6  be giving as well.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Council Member

          9  Sanders?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you,

         11  Madam Chair. Thank you for your enlightened guidance

         12  on this and other issues.

         13                 I want to once again praise our

         14  Deputy Majority Leader, who understands that justice

         15  should be restorative, that the idea of justice is

         16  to ensure that people become community again, not to

         17  stay as outsiders in an community, but to be a fully

         18  participating member of society.  You will not be

         19  considered a fully participating member unless you

         20  have every franchise that other members have,

         21  including the vote.  This sacred thing, this vote,

         22  that many have died for, and one of the things that

         23  separates this country from so many others.  And if

         24  America is truly to be American, it must remember

         25  that the vote is a scared thing, and that every
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          2  person has a right to be rehabilitated and brought

          3  back into the fold, and if we do restorative

          4  justice, people will spend a part of their time

          5  attempting to make up for mistakes that the have

          6  made in their life.  And one of the best ways to

          7  make up is for a person to understand the law, and

          8  to push for proper laws for this nation.           So

          9  I want to comment our Deputy Majority Leader Perkins

         10  for once again finding the most progressive

         11  legislation and shepherding it through.

         12                 Thank you very much, sir.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you,

         15  Council Member Sanders, Jr.

         16                 And I'd like to also just note and

         17  really thank with all of my gratitude, Council

         18  Member Hiram Monserrate.  On the day that this

         19  legislation was heard, he served in my stead. At the

         20  last minute I understand did a fantastic job, and I

         21  really appreciate the support of colleagues, such as

         22  Council Member Hiram Monserrate.  Thank you.

         23                 Will the clerk, seeing no further

         24  comments at this time, clerk.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Let me just
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          2  echo that support of Council Member Monserrate in

          3  chairing the meeting that day.  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Clerk, call the

          5  roll.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Clarke?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Boyland?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Madam Chair,

         10  may I be excused to explain my vote?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Certainly,

         12  Council Member.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  I just want

         14  to echo the sentiments of my colleagues, and I vote

         15  aye.  And I ask your indulgence if I can be excused

         16  as I have a previously scheduled event that I must

         17  attend?  Thank you very much.

         18                 And I vote aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Monserrate?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Sanders?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Madam Chair,

         23  not only do I vote aye, enthusiastically, but I ask

         24  to be excused so I can go back to another Committee

         25  meeting.
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          2                 I vote aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of four in

          4  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

          5  abstentions, the item is adopted.

          6                 Council Members, please sign the

          7  Committee report. Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Tracy, before

          9  you leave just sign.

         10                 Oh, she did.  Okay.  Great.  Thank

         11  you.

         12                 And I want to thank all of you who

         13  sat while we conducted that business.  We want to

         14  resume our testimony and questioning on the issue of

         15  women and minority recruitment in the FDNY, and at

         16  this time we'd like to call Captain Brenda Berkman.

         17                 Oh, is Kate Harris here as well?

         18  Would you please come and -- and if there's anyone

         19  who is here to testify, would like to testify,

         20  please sign in with our sergeant.

         21                 Captain Berkman, I want to thank you

         22  for your patience.  I know that you're pressed for

         23  time so we won't delay you.  We just want to thank

         24  you for all of your commitment with the FDNY and

         25  particularly on behalf of women.

                                                            107

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2                 CAPTAIN BERKMAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

          3                 I really appreciate the fact,

          4  Chairwoman Clarke, that you've allowed me the

          5  opportunity to testify today.  I am rushing to catch

          6  an airplane, and so you'll have to bear with me if I

          7  seem somewhat hurried.  Also I would like to just

          8  skip through my written testimony and hit some of

          9  the high points, and go right to answering some of

         10  the questions that were raised by some of the

         11  Council Members in the hearing, and I would ask that

         12  you make copies for all of them, the attachments

         13  that I put with your written testimony because I

         14  didn't have an opportunity to do that earlier.

         15                 As you stated earlier, Madam

         16  Chairwoman, in your opening remarks, the numbers

         17  speak for themselves.  You know, in the 25 years

         18  since women were first allowed to apply to become

         19  firefighters in New York City, and I have to say

         20  that the number now is 23 out of almost 11,000 are

         21  women firefighters, that is down from 40, which we

         22  had when I came on in 1982.

         23                 The Fire Department of the City of

         24  New York has not increased.  The number of women

         25  applying for firefighters is approximately 800 to
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          2  1,000 every time they give an exam.  Neither has the

          3  Fire Department increased the number of women who

          4  take and pass the written portion of the exam, which

          5  has always been approximately 500.  So for 20 years,

          6  the United Women Firefighters has testified before

          7  the City Council about ways of improving these

          8  dismal efforts of the Fire Department in recruiting

          9  women.  When are the Mayor and the City Council

         10  finally going to take action to change this

         11  disgraceful record?

         12                 Fifteen years ago Colombia

         13  University, the very same university that's being

         14  touted as now the group that's going to survey the

         15  reasons why women and people of color don't enter

         16  the Fire Department.  They did a study of women in

         17  the New York City Fire Department that provided the

         18  Department with recommendations for improving the

         19  recruitment and integration of women firefighters.

         20  Most of those recommendations remain undone, and

         21  those are the relevant pages that I attach to my

         22  testimony.

         23                 And now Colombia is doing a new study

         24  of the reasons for the Fire Department's low

         25  application and hiring numbers for women and people
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          2  of color, and I predict that the new report's

          3  findings will mirror the report done 15 years ago.

          4  So how many more studies and hearings do we need

          5  before action is taken and real change occurs?

          6                 No one in the Fire Department or City

          7  government is ever held accountable for these poor

          8  results.  The United Women Firefighters urges the

          9  City Council and the Mayor to appoint an outside

         10  monitor for the Fire Department's recruitment

         11  program to ensure accountability.  Appointing

         12  someone from an emergency service organization who

         13  has successfully recruited and hired women and

         14  people of color is a key requirement for such a

         15  monitor.  Every time the Fire Department does one of

         16  these recruitment efforts they hire all new people,

         17  they have all new people, very few of whom have any

         18  experience in recruitment, previously, in- uniform

         19  services which is so critical here, and then we have

         20  to reinvent the wheel.

         21                 When this Administration came on, and

         22  I'm talking about the Bloomberg Administration, the

         23  United Women Firefighters had high hopes.  We met

         24  with Commissioner White, and we met with other

         25  representatives from the Fire Department, and we
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          2  gave them our suggestions, which are attached to my

          3  current testimony. Over a year ago we met with them,

          4  and then we sent in our written suggestions as a

          5  follow up to that meeting almost a year ago, and as

          6  you will see, many of the things that we had in

          7  there were never done.

          8                 Now the Fire Department today

          9  emphasized its wonderful agreement with the New York

         10  Sports Club to train women candidates for the

         11  physical ability portion of the firefighter exam and

         12  the women firefighter mentor program, and I take

         13  issue with Commissioner White's testimony because we

         14  believe that both of these efforts were either

         15  conceived nor executed by the New York City Fire

         16  Department.  Rather, the New York Sports Club idea

         17  was presented in our written suggestions.  It was

         18  driven by Maureen McFadden of the NOW Legal Defense

         19  and Education Fund, and who worked very closely with

         20  the New York Sports Club to make this happen despite

         21  many obstacles that were thrown up in its path.  The

         22  mentor program for women firefighter candidates has

         23  been organized and staffed by volunteers from the

         24  United Women Firefighters, and I emphasize the term

         25  volunteers. Unfortunately, the Fire Department
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          2  failed to recruit the numbers of women we were

          3  hoping would be eligible to participate in these two

          4  programs.

          5                 Despite promises to include women

          6  firefighters in the planning and execution of

          7  recruitment efforts, the United Women Firefighters

          8  Organization was kept virtually in the dark about

          9  most of what was going on.  Today, for instance, is

         10  really the first time that we learned what the

         11  efforts of the Fire Department have been with

         12  respect to recruiting for military reserve units and

         13  college athletic departments.  You know, these are

         14  things that we suggested, but then we were never

         15  advised about what the follow- up efforts were.

         16                 We never received the recruitment

         17  newsletter.  We were not told about recruitments use

         18  of the FDNY home page to post information.  In many

         19  cases we would receive phone calls from women

         20  candidates who would be asking us questions, and

         21  they knew more about what was going on in

         22  recruitment than we did. You know, I think that it's

         23  no small coincidence that the special advisory

         24  committee, which consists of the Women Firefighters

         25  Organization along with other FDNY fraternal
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          2  organizations, that the EEPC was recommending -- be

          3  more closely involved in recruitment, that that

          4  committee just met for the first time. Gee, I wonder

          5  if it was in response to that letter coming down or

          6  your hearings the other day, and that's when we

          7  first learned about a lot of the efforts that had

          8  been made and the results as well.

          9                 Now, you know, it has been almost two

         10  years since that advisory committee has met, you

         11  know, I'm not going to go through this whole litany

         12  that I've listed here about what the UWF -- the

         13  criticisms that the UWF has of the recruitment

         14  effort, but I would like to respond very directly to

         15  some of the questions that were raised about what

         16  can be done to improve this mediocre effort.

         17                 One is the cadet program, as you may

         18  know, the funding has been cut for that, and that is

         19  a thing that all the organizations and the Council

         20  has very strongly recommended it be part of an

         21  ongoing process.  The idea that the Fire Department

         22  really has no ongoing program in the City high

         23  schools.  You know, you had those young people here

         24  from sixth grade, really we need to be approaching

         25  the guidance counselors.  We need to be, you know, a
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          2  high school for the uniformed services would be

          3  wonderful, and that proposal incidentally has come

          4  up repeatedly for the last 20 years, but just the

          5  idea that this isn't a process that starts two

          6  months before the filing opens for the exam.  It is

          7  impossible for us to do an adequate effort when that

          8  happens, and then there's nothing done for another

          9  four years, and then two months before the next time

         10  brand new people come in and start all over again.

         11                 We need more partnerships with places

         12  like the New York Sports Club, but we need better --

         13  the Fire Department has to look to its own fraternal

         14  organizations as well.  We need explorers and girl

         15  scouts, and career days.  We recommended, in our

         16  letter to the Fire Department that the Recruitment

         17  Unit do direct outreach to the City Council Members

         18  and to elected officials throughout the City in

         19  terms of your newsletters and your local offices for

         20  recruitment, and without your efforts, you know,

         21  nothing would have taken place on that.

         22                 I question the value of these many

         23  informational sessions that the Fire Department is

         24  saying that they held.  You know, I went to some of

         25  those and listened carefully to the material that
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          2  was being presented, and it seemed to me that it was

          3  really directed more at people who were already in

          4  the Department.  It was emphasizing things like the

          5  great retirement benefits and things along those

          6  lines, and it wasn't given people direct information

          7  about how to prepare for the job, and the things

          8  that they could expect as young people in the job.

          9                 I found it rather insulting that it

         10  was suggested in the Department's testimony that

         11  maybe one of the reasons why people of color and

         12  women don't apply for the New York City Fire

         13  Department is that they come from neighborhoods

         14  where there are more realistic knowledge of the

         15  dangers of fire fighting.  Who has a better

         16  realistic picture of the dangers of fire fighting

         17  than the sons of current firefighters, who are taken

         18  to the firehouses with the fathers on many

         19  occasions, and who are very aware of the culture of

         20  fire fighting, and yet they continue to apply in

         21  very high numbers.  So I would say that it's not the

         22  realistic knowledge of fire fighting that drives

         23  women and people of color away; it is the lack of

         24  information about the process for applying, the lack

         25  of follow up for those people to make them very
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          2  aware that this job has tremendous benefits of which

          3  they may not be as aware as children of current

          4  firefighters.

          5                 And so, I would say that, you know,

          6  there are some things that happened in this

          7  recruitment effort, which we definitely need to

          8  maintain.  We need to maintain that partnership with

          9  organizations like the Sports Club so that young

         10  women and people of color who go to athletic clubs,

         11  who go to the workout cites and they see people

         12  training for the Fire Department will then

         13  themselves be encouraged to file for these exams and

         14  train.  I think that we need to emphasize more to

         15  young women that the physical abilities exam is not

         16  a barrier to women who properly train.  I was

         17  extremely dismayed the other day at the press

         18  conference announcing the Sports Club partnership,

         19  that the Commissioner kept referring over and over

         20  again to the physical exam as a barrier to women.

         21  Women may have difficulty with it, but to constantly

         22  reemphasize that, and to erroneously, I believe,

         23  constantly talk about the upper- body strength

         24  demands of the physical exam.  When a person, male

         25  or female, is properly prepared they can be
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          2  successful on both parts of the exam, the written

          3  and the physical.  The question, is the Department

          4  going to continue to discourage groups from applying

          5  by emphasizing the difficulty of getting into the

          6  Department, or are they going to present a positive

          7  attitude towards applicants from groups that have

          8  historically been under- represented in this

          9  Department.

         10                 And I want to thank you again very

         11  much for putting up with my extremely rapid

         12  testimony.  And I'd be happy to try and answer any

         13  questions that you might have.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Captain Berkman,

         15  we want to certainly thank you.  Again, you know,

         16  without your wealth of knowledge and experience for

         17  those who are on the outside looking in, it's very

         18  hard to get a sense of, you know, what's doable,

         19  what's being done and what's not being done.  I

         20  think for the Council we get a sense of

         21  stubbornness, particularly on the part of the

         22  Department on a whole as a culture that finds it

         23  easier or the path of least resistance to stay the

         24  way it is, and everything that can be done is an

         25  insurmountable challenge where recruitment is
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          2  concerned, when certainly, you know, I agree with

          3  you about this study business.  You know, I find

          4  that studies tend to be waste, you know, they should

          5  be able to learn from their own practices, that they

          6  must look at alternatives.  And you stated quite

          7  clearly what you believe should be integrated into

          8  this process to make it more fruitful.

          9                 I'd just like to ask you one question

         10  because I want to get it in before you leave.

         11                 We know that a woman was selected to

         12  run the Recruitment Unit, and you know, it's our

         13  understanding that she didn't have or perhaps you

         14  may be able to shed some light, but the experience

         15  of recruiting for the uniformed forces.  How

         16  critical do you see that, given where we are with

         17  the Department and trying to get a breakthrough in

         18  recruitment practices?

         19                 CAPTAIN BERKMAN:  I think it's

         20  essential that the Department not reinvent the wheel

         21  every four years, and that they instead hire people

         22  who have already the background, but that they bring

         23  them in far in advance of the process.  You know, in

         24  all fairness to the people that they did bring into

         25  the process, they were brought in very late in the
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          2  game, and they had to play catch up, but also there

          3  was not full advantage taken of the previous

          4  experience, of experiences of this Department and

          5  their failures, and there wasn't full advantage

          6  taken of experiences in other Departments.  You

          7  know, it's not enough just to call up another

          8  Department and say, what did you do that worked.

          9  And when they tell you well, we have a cadet program

         10  or if you're in the cadet program for a year, then

         11  they can go automatically into fire fighting, and

         12  the Fire Department goes, oh, we could never do that

         13  because DCAS would never allow that.  You know,

         14  that's not sufficient.  And you can't have people

         15  coming in who just -- and then also there's a

         16  question of resources.  I think that, you know, your

         17  questions were getting to that.  Certainly other

         18  people addressed this.

         19                 When the Department talks about the

         20  amount of money they expended on recruitment, you

         21  know, so much of it, particularly from the media

         22  campaign was in the in- kind donation types of

         23  things, and, you know, they take credit for that as

         24  being part of their budgetary allotment to the

         25  recruitment effort.  Other Departments, both in fire
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          2  and police, the military, you know, these are the

          3  groups that we need to be looking to for guidance in

          4  terms of improving our process.

          5                 We have some enormous obstacles that

          6  we put in the way of people here, especially in

          7  terms of what you brought up, the lack of a rolling

          8  process.  Already I'm hearing from women candidates

          9  who have somehow been dropped off the list, the DCAS

         10  list, you know, when it takes four or five years

         11  from the time that you apply for the examination to

         12  actually get to the point where you're on a list,

         13  not even being hired yet.  You know, we have women

         14  who are on the previous list who are now in law

         15  school, and unlike me they're not going to quit law

         16  school or they're not going to quit the practice of

         17  law to come on the Fire Department.  So, you know,

         18  it is a tremendous problem when this is going on for

         19  such a long period of time.

         20                 The cadet program was intended to

         21  address that. When it was first set up the cadets

         22  were supposed to go directly into the Fire

         23  Department are firefighters, and because of

         24  political considerations that was deep sixed.  Okay.

         25    And then they were supposed to go directly into
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          2  EMS, and my understanding is that even that has been

          3  eliminated, and the whole idea of an EMS promotional

          4  was attached in court by the unions, conveniently

          5  after a lot of young people got in that were related

          6  to a union and high- level Fire Department people

          7  and the promotional was attached.  So, you know, we

          8  do face problems, but they're not insurmountable.

          9  Other groups, other organizations have overcome

         10  them.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Well, Captain

         12  Berkman, we don't want to delay you.  We have Kate

         13   -- oh, you had a question. I'm sorry.

         14                 CAPTAIN BERKMAN:  I'm sorry.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Council Member

         16  Monserrate.

         17                 CAPTAIN BERKMAN:  Yeah.  No, no,

         18  please.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank

         20  you, Captain.

         21                 CAPTAIN BERKMAN:  Been here for two

         22  and a half hours, I have time for one more question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Okay.  I

         24  have a question regarding the cadet.  So you're

         25  saying the cadet program has it been disbanded?
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          2                 CAPTAIN BERKMAN:  My understanding is

          3  that the cadet program was unfunded.  As part of the

          4  budgetary cuts that was the end of the cadet

          5  program.  And we had very high hopes for that

          6  because we felt that it would ensure a steady stream

          7  of women and people of color who were qualified, who

          8  had met all the criteria that the Fire Department

          9  demands of its people and ensure a steady stream

         10  into the Fire Department and not two every five

         11  years.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  And what

         13  happened with the EMS promotional, explain that to

         14  me a little bit?

         15                 CAPTAIN BERKMAN:  It went on for a

         16  number of years, and several -- and I don't know if

         17  you recall, but the Fire Department under the

         18  previous administration had this enormous ceremony

         19  where they said they had the most diverse class of

         20  firefighters in the history of the program.  That

         21  was largely because of the EMS promotional, and then

         22  right after that the unions brought a lawsuit

         23  against the promotional, saying that it had no real

         24  relationship to fire fighting and shouldn't be a

         25  promotional.  And as a result, they got one judge to
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          2  agree with them on that.

          3                 Again, the Corporation Council, to my

          4  knowledge, never reached out to any of the fraternal

          5  organizations for support in this lawsuit to defend

          6  the promotional exam.  We had offered.  Our offer

          7  was never taken up, and now it's on appeal. And I

          8  would urge the City to do whatever measure necessary

          9  to reinstate that program; it was a good program.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  What

         11  court was that in?

         12                 CAPTAIN BERKMAN:  It was in New York

         13  Supreme, and  now it's at the Appellate Division on

         14  appeal.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank

         16  you.

         17                 CAPTAIN BERKMAN:  Okay.  Thank you

         18  very much.  I really appreciate it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay.  Thank you

         20  so much, Captain Berkman.

         21                 Kate Harris.

         22                 MS. HARRIS:  Thank you.

         23                 CAPTAIN BERKMAN:  Thank you.

         24                 MS. HARRIS:  Before I begin I just

         25  want to say that first of all, thank you for the
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          2  opportunity to speak here, and also to emphasize

          3  that I'm here on my own, representing only myself.

          4                 I'm one of the nearly 500 female

          5  firefighter candidates hoping to get hired with the

          6  New York City Fire Department, but what separates me

          7  from most other candidates is that I know firsthand

          8  what the job is all about.  For the past five years

          9  I've worked in a paid department in Vermont as a

         10  firefighter.  For me it's not just about the job,

         11  but it's a way of life.  It challenges me mentally,

         12  physically, emotionally, and is by far the most

         13  rewarding career I could have ever imagines for

         14  myself.

         15                 When the application process was

         16  opened, I chose to take a leave of absence from my

         17  department, put my name on the FDNY testing list,

         18  and moved here to the City.  The New York Fire

         19  Department is highly respected and regarded as the

         20  biggest, busiest, and often the best in the country.

         21    For a firefighter wanting the most challenge out

         22  of the job, New York is the place to go; however,

         23  not if you're a woman.

         24                 I was shocked to learn how few women

         25  there are in this Department, but because of my
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          2  commitment to the job, it didn't sway my decision to

          3  come here.

          4                 In New York I received a large amount

          5  of support, mostly from the United Women

          6  Firefighter's Organization and members of the

          7  Recruitment Unit, unlike in other Cities where I've

          8  tested for this job.  Being able to study for the

          9  written and train for the physical with Fire

         10  Department personnel is valuable opportunity and

         11  most definitely prepares me in a way I would

         12  otherwise have to achieve on my own.  Also getting a

         13  free membership to a gym only increases my chances

         14  of success.

         15                 Throughout the hiring process though,

         16  it has not been easy, and I can imagine that won't

         17  be changing.  As wonderful as these program are, it

         18  was only through my perseverance that I'm still at

         19  this point.  I happened to be looking the FDNY

         20  website, and saw the number for the United Women

         21  Firefighter's Organization.  I called wanting

         22  information and as much help and connections as i

         23  could find to get me through the entire testing

         24  process.  Captain Berkman encouraged me to attend an

         25  information session they were offering, which I did.
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          2    It was incredibly informative, especially for

          3  someone who doesn't know anything about the job, but

          4  more importantly it put me in touch with a number of

          5  other women and on a mailing list.  I began

          6  receiving lots of information on study sessions,

          7  newsletters and many support resources.  I was able

          8  to walk into the written exam feeling prepared and

          9  more confident because of this.  However, I wouldn't

         10  still be on the list if it weren't for my

         11  perseverance. When I moved I stopped receiving

         12  mailings.  Even though I had filled out forms with

         13  DCAS twice, my address was still not correct in

         14  their system.  Every number I called was incorrect,

         15  people wouldn't call me back, I was given different

         16  answers, and if I didn't care so much about this job

         17  I doubt I would have kept with it.  My information

         18  still isn't current, and it's been nearly five

         19  months.

         20                 Three days before the written exam in

         21  December, I had to undergo unexpected surgery.  I

         22  called to see if there was any way I could take the

         23  exam at a slightly later date.  I was told that only

         24  military and personnel injured on the job were

         25  allowed to take the exam at alternate dates.
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          2  Therefore, I had to show up for the written exam in

          3  a wheelchair, under medication and in pain.

          4                 On top of that, my name was absent

          5  from the computer list of all those who passed the

          6  written, even though I managed to do very well on

          7  the test.  I showed you to information sessions

          8  anyway hearing about them from friends who had

          9  passed. I talked to numerous people about correcting

         10  the problem, and I still haven't received calls back

         11  about it.  Unfortunately, I'm not the only one

         12  having these problems.

         13                 For all those other women whose names

         14  fell through the cracks, they will probably remain

         15  there.  It's only because I know the job and I'm so

         16  determined that I keep on people and make it happen

         17  for myself.  Someone who doesn't have the experience

         18  likely won't make the effort, probably because they

         19  don't know they need to.

         20                 It's my firm belief that women are

         21  every bit as capable of doing this job as men.  Just

         22  like with men, it takes the right kind of woman to

         23  succeed.  It's certainly not a job for everyone, but

         24  there have been many times when I've worked with

         25  women whose capabilities I trusted just as much as
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          2  the men on my team, and in even in a small town in

          3  Vermont, women's ability to do the job is easily

          4  apparent.

          5                 In my department there are only about

          6  30 people, three of whom are women.  I was never

          7  treated with anything but respect, and never thought

          8  twice about my status through the hiring process.

          9  Upon submitting my application, the chief personally

         10  brought me into his office, wished me luck, and told

         11  me to let him know if I encountered any problems.

         12                 The whole testing process, including

         13  the written, physical and psychological exams takes

         14  only a month or two to complete there.  Then, within

         15  another month or two of the testing process a

         16  candidate can get hired off the list after the

         17  background investigation, medical exam, and other

         18  requirements are taken care of.  Here it takes a

         19  minimum of two years, and from what I hear, more

         20  like four.  Within that time candidates are given an

         21  opportunity to get the necessary qualifications for

         22  employment, such as 30 college credits, New York

         23  First Responder Certification, and the a New York

         24  State driver's license.

         25                 Personally, I already have above and
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          2  beyond the requirements needed, but I still must

          3  wait the same amount of time as everyone else before

          4  getting hired.  Some cities offer extra points based

          5  on prior fire fighting experience, giving them a

          6  slight preference based on their existing commitment

          7  to the job.  However, most women don't have this

          8  prior experience.  They don't know firsthand how

          9  rewarding the job really is, or don't have family in

         10  the Fire Department that they can learn it from.

         11  Thus, the likelihood of their sticking out years of

         12  waiting around before starting a career is not too

         13  likely.

         14                 The problem isn't that there aren't

         15  women out there capable of doing the job, it's that

         16  the chance to do the job is not made very easy.  In

         17  a small town like Vermont, they have not only made

         18  women feel accepted into the career, but created

         19  equal opportunities in the hiring process to make it

         20  happen.  All over the country, towns and cities are

         21  making it easier, and the number of women and

         22  minorities in the fire service is growing.  The

         23  numbers in the New York Fire Department aren't as

         24  apparent, and from my experience in the hiring

         25  process, I can understand why.  As a Department
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          2  which is looked up to around the country, and

          3  especially with the decreased number of overall

          4  applicants, I think it becomes even more essential

          5  to create a process which is accessible and enticing

          6  to all potential applicants.

          7                 There are many possible ways to

          8  create a smoother hiring process.  First,

          9  administrative problems can be avoided by keeping

         10  lists up to date, and not allowing names to fall

         11  through the cracks.  Next, candidate can be

         12  presented with a time line a the beginning of the

         13  application process, so that they might know what to

         14  expect, and when they need to prepare for it.

         15                 The mentoring program in place is a

         16  great idea, however, there are only two mentors

         17  available per borough.  By increasing the numbers,

         18  more personalized attention can be given to the

         19  candidates, as it is important that direct contact

         20  be made.  Also, having an information number for

         21  candidates to call is helpful; however, it's useless

         22  is there's no person on the other end to receive

         23  inquiries.

         24                 The Recruitment Unit does a good job

         25  of offering study sessions and trainings; however,
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          2  they are not always able to answer specific

          3  questions.  By keeping them informed of the whole

          4  process they will be better able to assist

          5  candidates with potential problems.

          6                 These are just a few suggestions to

          7  help candidates succeed in the testing process.  By

          8  doing so, women and minorities might stand a better

          9  chance of surviving the exams and joining the ranks

         10  of the Fire Department.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  We want to thank

         13  you, Kate, because your testimony is really critical

         14  to our understanding of what women go through and

         15  probably similarly what some minorities are going

         16  through when they are trying to get involved with

         17  the FDNY, and your perseverance is something that

         18  can be considered very unique and having the

         19  background coming from New York.

         20                 And I'd love to ask you some

         21  additional questions. We have your information.

         22  I'll probably be reaching out to you, but we're

         23  short on time right now, and we still have some

         24  further testimony to take.

         25                 We want to wish you God speed and
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          2  good luck.  I hope to see you pulling some hose

          3  shortly.  And thank you very much for your testimony

          4  today.

          5                 MS. HARRIS:  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I'd like to call

          7  Mr. Paul Washington and Mr. Damon Alston of the

          8  Vulcan Society.

          9                 MR. WASHINGTON:  Good afternoon.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you,

         11  gentlemen.  Just state your name and affiliation for

         12  the record.

         13                 MR. WASHINGTON:  My name is Paul

         14  Washington.  I'm the President of the Vulcan

         15  Society, Captain in New York City Fire Department.

         16                 MS. ALSTON:  My name is Damon Alston

         17  and I'm a fireman in the Fire Department of New

         18  York, and I'm also the second Vice President of the

         19  Vulcan Society.

         20                 MR. WASHINGTON:  All right.  Thank

         21  you for allowing us to once again address this

         22  Committee.

         23                 Our concerns now are the same as they

         24  have been for many years.  The numbers of blacks in

         25  FDNY remains abysmal with no relief in sight.
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          2                 A major opportunity to bring about a

          3  change has just passed us by and been nothing less

          4  than a total failure. The main cause of this failure

          5  is plain; a total lack of commitment to bringing

          6  blacks and women into the FDNY by the Fire

          7  Commissioner and the Mayor.  Until these two men can

          8  be made to seriously address this problem, we cannot

          9  even begin to solve it.

         10                 We hope this Committee and the entire

         11  Council sees that its job is not to come up with

         12  ideas on how to solve this problem.  There is no

         13  shortage of solutions, but rather how to make the

         14  powers that be share our commitment in bringing

         15  about this fundamental change.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you.

         17                 Did you, Mr. Firefighter Alston, have

         18  any comments that you'd like to bring at this time?

         19                 MR. ALSTON:  Well, I'd like to say

         20  that the Fire Department when they can put out the

         21  effort to correct the problem, they do.

         22                 One instance, I could name several

         23  instance, but I'll give you two.  We had problems

         24  with -- maybe seven, eight years ago when we

         25  introduced bunker gear because people were getting
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          2  burnt hoods when we were -- people were getting

          3  burned around their ears.  A lot of money was put

          4  upon researching and seeing what we could do to

          5  correct this problem.

          6                 And most recently the radios that

          7  we've had. We've had problems, tremendous problems

          8  that could have caused us death.  And the radios

          9  were recalled.  A lot of research.  We were going to

         10  training at the Academy and going over different

         11  particulars with the manufacturer and, you know, I

         12  come back to work the next day, and lo and behold

         13  they're there.  So the Fire Department is interested

         14  in what they feel, you know, what they feel at the

         15  moment they want to do and deal with.

         16                 And as far as I'm concerned,

         17  recruitment effort is a failure.  And it's up to the

         18  Fire Department to do the research and made the

         19  effort, the good enough effort and good heart to

         20  correct that problem.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Counsel Member

         22  Monserrate.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank

         24  you, Madam Chair.

         25                 To the President, Mr. Washington.
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          2                 Has the Vulcans undertaken any

          3  litigation with respect to the hiring practices?

          4                 MR. WASHINGTON:  Yeah.  That's the

          5  biggest thing we're trying to do because it's

          6  obviously just not going to get done.  The Fire

          7  Department has no commitment at all towards this,

          8  and we're trying -- we have a retainer with a law

          9  firm to bring about a lawsuit about the Fire

         10  Department's hiring practices; strictly the hiring

         11  practices, not the promotional or anything like

         12  that.

         13                 We filed a EEOC charge with the

         14  Federal government that's now before the Fire

         15  Department and that's still pending, but we're

         16  trying our best to bring about this lawsuit.

         17  Hopefully this spring it will be brought.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  When did

         19  you file with the EEOC?

         20                 MR. WASHINGTON:  I believe it was

         21  September. Either August or September.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  2002?

         23                 MR. WASHINGTON:  Yes, yeah.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  And just

         25  prior to that was there any other litigation?
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          2                 MR. WASHINGTON:  In 1973 the Vulcan

          3  Society brought about a lawsuit, and they won it,

          4  based upon the Fire Department's hiring practices,

          5  particularly the written test. And as a result of

          6  that, for every four firefighters that were hired

          7  one of them had to black, and that was from 1973

          8  until 1975, and that brought about a large influx of

          9  black firefighters.

         10                 Since then our numbers have just gone

         11  down, and again it's just -- there's just no

         12  commitment there.  They're just not even trying.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank

         14  you.

         15                 MR. WASHINGTON:  You're welcome.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you,

         17  Council Member Monserrate.

         18                 I just have one final question for

         19  you, gentlemen.

         20                 When we heard testimony from the

         21  Administration earlier today, it was stated or

         22  surmised to a certain degree that part of why there

         23  is a challenge in communities of color is because

         24  perhaps the young people or eligible applicants or

         25  prospects in those communities see more incidents of
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          2  fire in their community, and thereby may fear their

          3  lives, and not see fire fighting as a viable way of

          4  life.  Would you address that please?

          5                 MR. WASHINGTON:  Well, I mean, that

          6  may be true. Certainly there are more fires in black

          7  neighborhoods and in low income neighborhoods than

          8  in other neighborhoods, and that may possibly have

          9  some effect; we don't really know.

         10                 But, I mean, we can concentrate on

         11  the problems all day long, and that's, you know,

         12  that's just what people who aren't doing the job

         13  that they're supposed to do like to focus on; the

         14  problem.  We can't overcome this, we can't overcome

         15  that, but they need to look at the solutions.

         16                 As Damon said, just like with the

         17  radios.  There was a problems with radios in the

         18  Fire Department.  It's being addressed, and just

         19  recently some serious steps have been taken to

         20  address that.  The same thing can be done for

         21  getting blacks onto the job.

         22                 And again, and I don't want to

         23  belittle the efforts of those recruiters out in the

         24  field and the Recruitment Unit and so on.  They did

         25  the best that they could with the resources that
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          2  they were given, but the higher ups don't give them

          3  the resources that are needed.

          4                 And again, there's such a focus on

          5  the hurdles.

          6                 The New York City Fire Department

          7  fights fires and everything from private dwellings,

          8  to high- rise buildings, to store fronts, you name

          9  it, they overcome those obstacles.  You can't

         10  pretend that this is an obstacle we can't overcome.

         11                 We scratch our heads, oh, we can't

         12  seem to figure out what's the problem.  They can

         13  figure out the problem, and they could put the

         14  resources to it to solve the problem.  They just

         15  don't have the commitment to do it, it's as simple

         16  as that.

         17                 Innovative solutions have been

         18  offered to them, and well, we can't do this.  One

         19  thing we thought maybe they could take people, black

         20  applicants, or any applicant who passed the test for

         21  transit, passed the test for a correction officer or

         22  someone, bring them into the pool.  Make a passing

         23  test for transit a passing test for the Fire

         24  Department.  Oh, that's a good idea, we'll look at

         25  it.  Nothing.  Nothing came about it. There's no
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          2  shortage of answers; there's just a shortage of

          3  commitment.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Well, gentlemen,

          5  your commitment to the recruitment of women and

          6  minorities in the FDNY is well documented, and your

          7  advocacy on behalf of the people of the City of New

          8  York who will benefit from your work in generations

          9  to come is well documented.  We want to thank you

         10  because we intend to get the situation resolved.

         11                 I think that what we're looking for

         12  here is not only commitment, but accountability.

         13  And I think that it's going to be critical for this

         14  Administration to hold their managers accountable

         15  for getting the job done.

         16                 It's not enough to work, get paid

         17  every day, and then throw your hands up at the end

         18  of the day having not accomplished what you were

         19  hired to do.  And I think that we are dealing with a

         20  lot of mediocrity and excused here in the City of

         21  New York, not only in the FDNY, but particularly in

         22  the FDNY but throughout, and I think that in tight

         23  fiscal times like this we need results for our

         24  dollars, and we intend to see that.

         25                 Thank you very much, gentlemen.
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          2                 And I want to thank all of you who

          3  have come to this hearing.  It's come to a close.

          4  I'd like to thank you and this meeting is adjourned.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 1:02 p.m.)
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